Modular Forms Representable As Eta Products

A Dissertation Submitted to the Temple University Graduate Board

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

> by Wissam Raji August, 2006

© by Wissam Raji August, 2006 All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Modular Forms Representable As Eta Products Wissam Raji DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY Temple University, August, 2006 Professor Marvin Knopp, Chair

In this dissertation, we discuss modular forms that are representable as eta products and generalized eta products . Eta products appear in many areas of mathematics in which algebra and analysis overlap. M. Newman [15, 16] published a pair of well-known papers aimed at using eta-product to construct forms on the group $\Gamma_0(n)$ with the trivial multiplier system. Our work here divides into three related areas. The first builds upon the work of Siegel [23] and Rademacher [19] to derive modular transformation laws for functions defined as eta products (and related products). The second continues work of Kohnen and Mason [9] that shows that, under suitable conditions, a generalized modular form is an eta product or generalized eta product and thus a classical modular form. The third part of the dissertation applies generalized eta-products to rederive some arithmetic identities of H. Farkas [5, 6].

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank all those who have helped in the completion of my thesis.

To God, the beginning and the end, for all His inspiration and help in the most difficult days of my life, and for all the people listed below.

To my advisor, Professor Marvin Knopp, a great teacher and inspirer whose support and guidance were crucial for the completion of my work. He taught me how to be a good researcher and a passionate teacher. I am honored to be the student of such a great mathematician.

To Professor Pavel Guerzhoy, who provided his ideas in the last two sections of my thesis and especially his key idea in the fourth chapter. His ideas and techniques helped me to attack several problems successfully.

To Professor Boris Datskovsky, for serving on my examining committee, for being a great teacher, a wonderful problem solver who amazed me all the time by his great abilities.

To Professor Omar Hijab, for serving on my examining committee. Dr. Hijab is a mathematician who taught me how to be passionate about the subject. His support for me all over the years was very helpful in developing my intuition.

To Professor Wladimir Pribitkin, for serving on my examining committee, for being very helpful in the whole process of the defense.

To Professor Sinai Robins, a number theorist at Temple University whose comments helped in the development of several theorems in my thesis, for his continuous support and encouragement throughout the years.

To Jose Gimenez and Karen Taylor, my mathematical siblings, for their support and advice throughout my thesis.

To my friend Marilena Downing, whose encouragement and friendship were valuable to me.

To Professor Bassam Shayya, my thesis advisor at the American University of Beirut for his confidence that I will make it one day and for his continuous encouragement to take further and further steps.

To Professor Kamal Khuri-Makdisi, a brilliant number theorist whose guidance and support throughout my graduate studies gave me the confidence to work harder. He was of great help in developing my mathematical intuition during my Master's degree study at the American University of Beirut.

To Nancy Abdel-Halim, my real love who stood all the years of my graduate work by my side. She helped me in taking great decisions in my life which will have great effects on my future.

To my family, for their infinite love and support throughout the years of my life. In particular, to my Dad Victor, my Mom Nadia and my brothers George and Fadi.

To my family, Victor, Nadia, George, Fadi and Nancy.

With love and admiration

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT		iv v vii	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT DEDICATION			
			1
	1.1	Basic Definitions	1
2	Tra	nsformation Laws Of Classes Of Functions	5
	2.1	Transformation Law of Jacobi $\theta_3(w, \tau)$	5
		2.1.1 The Jacobi function $\theta_3(\tau)$	11
		2.1.2 The Function $w(z,\tau)$	11
	2.2	Transformation Laws of a Class of Eta Products	13
		2.2.1 The Transformation law of $g_1(\tau)$ under $\Gamma_0(n)$	14
		2.2.2 A Special Case of $g_1(\tau)$	20
		2.2.3 Another Special Case of $g_1(\tau)$	21
	2.3	Comments on Generalizing the Proof of Section (2.1)	24
3	Generalized Modular Forms Representable As Eta-Products		26
	3.1	Introduction	26
	3.2	GMF's on $\Gamma_0(N)$ Representable as Generalized Eta-Products .	29
	3.3	GMF's on $\Gamma_1(N)$ Representable as Eta-Products	33
	3.4	GMF's on $\Gamma(N)$ Representable as Eta-Products $\ldots \ldots$	37
4	Arithmetic Identities		40
	4.1	Introduction	40
	4.2	Arithmetic Identities Modulo 3	41
	4.3	Arithmetic Identities modulo 7	43
	4.4	Arithmetic Identities Modulo 4	45
REFERENCES			48

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

1.1 Basic Definitions

By $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ we mean the group of 2x2 matrices with integral entries and determinant 1. We call $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ the modular group $\Gamma(1)$. We define the action of an element $A \in SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ on the upper half plane H by

$$Az = \frac{az+b}{cz+d},$$

where $A = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix}$. For a positive integer N, we define a subgroup of $\Gamma(1)$; $\Gamma(N) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} : a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{Z}, b \equiv c \equiv 0 \mod N, a \equiv d \equiv 1 \mod N, ad - bc = 1 \right\}$. We call this subgroup the *principal congruence subgroup of level N*. For any other subgroup $\Gamma \subset \Gamma(1)$, if $\Gamma(N) \subset \Gamma$ for some $N \in \mathbb{Z}$, then we call Γ a *congruence subgroup*.

Definition 1.1 Let Γ be a subgroup of $\Gamma(1)$. A fundamental region for Γ is an open subset R of H such that

1. no two distinct points of R are equivalent with respect to Γ , and

2. every point of H is equivalent to some point in the closure of R.

Proposition 1.1 The full modular group is generated by $S = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ and

$$T = \left(\begin{array}{rr} 0 & -1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{array}\right)$$

Definition 1.2 We say that ν is a multiplier system for the group Γ and weight k provided $\nu(M)$, $M \in \Gamma$, is a complex-valued function of absolute value 1, satisfying the following equation

$$\nu(M_1M_2)(c_3\tau + d_3)^k = \nu(M_1)\nu(M_2)(c_1M_2\tau + d_1)^k(c_2\tau + d_2)^k,$$

where $M_1 = \begin{pmatrix} * & * \\ c_1 & d_1 \end{pmatrix}, M_2 = \begin{pmatrix} * & * \\ c_2 & d_2 \end{pmatrix}$ and $M_3 = M_1M_2 = \begin{pmatrix} * & * \\ c_3 & d_3 \end{pmatrix}.$

Definition 1.3 Let R be a fundamental region of Γ . A parabolic point (or parabolic vertex or parabolic cusp) of Γ is any real point q, or $q = \infty$, such that $q \in closure(R)$, in the topology of the Riemann sphere.

Definition 1.4 Suppose $\Gamma \subset \Gamma(1)$ such that $[\Gamma(1) : \Gamma] = \mu$. Let $A_1, A_2, ..., A_\mu$ be a set of right coset representatives of Γ in $\Gamma(1)$. The width of Γ at $q_j = \infty$ is the smallest positive integer λ such that $S^{\lambda} \in \Gamma$. Also, the width of Γ at any other cusp $q_j = A_j(\infty)$ is the smallest positive integer λ such that $A_j S^{\lambda} A_j^{-1} \in \Gamma$.

Definition 1.5 Let $k \in R$ and $\nu(M)$ a multiplier system for Γ and of weight k. A function $F(\tau)$ defined and meromorphic in H is a modular form (MF) of weight k, with multiplier system (MS) ν , with respect to Γ , provided

- 1. $F(M\tau) = \nu(M)(c\tau + d)^k F(\tau)$ for every $M \in \Gamma$;
- 2. The Fourier expansion of F at every cusp q_j has the form

$$F(\tau) = \sigma_j(\tau) \sum_{n=-n_0}^{\infty} a_n(j) e^{2\pi i (n+\kappa_j)(A_j^{-1}\tau)/\lambda_j},$$

where

$$\sigma_j(\tau) = 1$$
 if $q_j = \infty$
 $\sigma_j(\tau) = (\tau - q_j)^{-k}$ if q_j is finite

Here λ_j is the width at q_j and $0 \le \kappa_j < 1$ is determined by

$$\nu(AS^{\lambda_j}A^{-1}) = e^{2\pi i\kappa_j},$$

if q_i is finite and

$$\nu(S^{\lambda_j}) = e^{2\pi i\kappa_j},$$

if q_i is infinity.

If the first nonzero $a_n(j)$ occurs for $n = -n_0 < 0$, we say F has a pole at q_j of order $n_0 - \kappa_j$. If the first nonzero $a_n(j)$ occurs for $n = n_0 \ge 0$, we say F is regular at q_j with a zero of order $n_0 + \kappa_j$.

To decide whether a given function is a modular form on Γ , it is essential to determine how this function transforms under the action of Γ . With respect to the full modular group, it will be enough to determine how the function transforms under the generators S and T. Usually, it is easier to see how the function transforms under the action of S. In Chapter 2 of this thesis, we determine the transformation law of $\theta_3(w,\tau)$ under the action of T using Siegel's method [23]. Notice that $\theta_3(w,\tau)$ is not a modular form but $\theta_3(0,\tau) = \theta_3(\tau)$ is. We will see in the (2.1.1) that $\theta_3(\tau)$ is a modular form of weight $\frac{1}{2}$. We then generalize Siegel's method to determine the transformation laws for an entire class of modular forms under $\Gamma_0(N)$. Here $\Gamma_0(N)$ is a congruence subgroup to be defined later. This class of functions is a product of eta functions with very important properties to be used in the later chapters. We then impose some conditions to derive a class of functions which is invariant under $\Gamma_0(N)$. These kinds of invariant functions were first constructed by Newman [15, 16].

In Chapter 3, we define *generalized modular forms* and present some theorems derived by Kohnen and Mason. In [9], they impose some conditions upon the order of the function at the cusps and prove that the generalized modular form is representable as an eta product in the form described in Chapter 3. I present another class of functions which generalizes the class presented in Chapter 3. These well-known functions are called *generalized eta products* [20, 21]. We relax the condition of Kohnen and Mason from a condition on the order of the function at the cusps to a condition on the level of the congruence subgroup. We then deduce some results on other congruence subgroups. As a result, we represent *generalized modular forms* as generalized eta products.

In Chapter 4, we use the fact that the logarithmic derivative of the generalized eta products will span the space of $M_2(\Gamma_0(4))$ and determine some arithmetic identities modulo 4 by relating the logarithmic derivative of the generalized eta functions to Eisenstein series of weight 2. We also determine arithmetic identities modulo the primes 3 and 7.

CHAPTER 2

Transformation Laws Of Classes Of Functions

2.1 Transformation Law of Jacobi $\theta_3(w, \tau)$

Let w be a complex number. The function $\theta_3(w,\tau)$ is defined by

$$\theta_3(w,\tau) = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^{2n})(1+2q^{2n-1}\cos 2w + q^{4n-2}) \quad , \tag{2.1}$$

where $q = e^{\pi i \tau}$ and τ is in the upper half plane [25]. The transformation law is given by

$$\theta_3\left(\frac{w}{\tau}, \frac{-1}{\tau}\right) = (-i\tau)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-\frac{w^2}{\pi i\tau}} \theta_3(w, \tau) \quad , \tag{2.2}$$

We give a new, detailed proof using Residue Calculus inspired by Siegel's proof of the transformation law of the Dedekind eta function [23]. First, we prove (2.2) for $\tau = iy$, where $w = \sigma + it$ and $y > \frac{2|t|}{\pi}$, and then extend the result to all τ in the upper half plane by analytic continuation.

We use the logarithmic expansion to prove (2.2). In proving the transformation law of the logarithmic derivative, we will encounter some problems with the zeroes of the theta function. The zeroes of $\theta_3(w,\tau)$ are the points $w = \frac{\pi}{2} + \frac{\pi\tau}{2} + m\pi + n\pi\tau$, for $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

To solve this problem, we first fix w such that $\operatorname{Re} w \neq \frac{\pi}{2} + n\pi$, and prove the

transformation law for $\tau = iy$. We then extend the result by analytic continuation to the whole τ plane. Once we have it for all w such that $\operatorname{Re} w \neq \frac{\pi}{2} + n\pi$, we use analytic continuation in the w plane to extend the result to all w.

Theorem 2.1 If $\tau = iy$ and $y > \frac{2|t|}{\pi}$, where $w = \sigma + it$, then $\theta_3(w, \tau)$ satisfies

$$\theta_3\left(\frac{w}{iy},\frac{i}{y}\right) = (y)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{\frac{w^2}{\pi y}} \theta_3(w,iy) \quad .$$
(2.3)

Proof Fix w such that $\operatorname{Re} w \neq \frac{\pi}{2} + n\pi$. Then it is sufficient to prove

$$\log \theta_3(w, iy) - \log \theta_3\left(\frac{w}{iy}, \frac{i}{y}\right) + \frac{w^2}{\pi y} = -\frac{1}{2}\log y \quad . \tag{2.4}$$

If we simplify $\theta_3(w,\tau)$, we get

$$\theta_{3}(w,\tau) = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^{2n})(e^{2iw}+q^{2n-1})(e^{-2iw}+q^{2n-1})$$
$$= \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^{2n})(1+\frac{q^{2n-1}}{e^{2iw}})(1+\frac{q^{2n-1}}{e^{-2iw}}).$$

$$\begin{split} \text{Since } y &\geq \frac{2|t|}{\pi}, \left| \frac{q^{2n-1}}{e^{2iw}} \right| < 1. \text{ Thus the expansion of } \log \theta_3(w, iy) \text{ is} \\ \log \theta_3(w, iy) &= \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \log(1 - q^{2n}) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \log(1 + \frac{q^{2n-1}}{e^{2iw}}) + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \log(1 + \frac{q^{2n-1}}{e^{-2iw}}) \\ &= -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(q^{2n})^m}{m} + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{m-1}}{m} \frac{(q^{2n-1})^m}{e^{2imw}} \\ &+ \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{m-1}}{m} \frac{(q^{2n-1})^m}{e^{-2imw}} \\ &= -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \left(\frac{q^{2m}}{1 - q^{2m}} \right) + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{m-1}}{me^{2imw}} q^{-m} \left(\frac{q^{2m}}{1 - q^{2m}} \right) \\ &+ \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{m-1}}{me^{-2imw}} q^{-m} \left(\frac{q^{2m}}{1 - q^{2m}} \right) \\ &= -\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \left(\frac{e^{-2\pi ym}}{1 - e^{-2\pi ym}} \right) + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{m-1}}{m} \frac{e^{\pi my}}{e^{2imw}} \left(\frac{e^{-2\pi ym}}{1 - e^{-2\pi ym}} \right) \\ &+ \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^{m-1}}{m} \frac{e^{\pi my}}{e^{-2imw}} \left(\frac{1}{1 - e^{-2\pi ym}} \right) \\ &= \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \left(\frac{1}{1 - e^{2\pi ym}} \right) + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} e^{-2iwm} \left(\frac{e^{\pi ym}}{1 - e^{2\pi ym}} \right) \\ &+ \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} e^{2iwm} \left(\frac{e^{\pi ym}}{1 - e^{2\pi ym}} \right). \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$\log \theta_3(\frac{w}{iy}, \frac{i}{y}) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \left(\frac{1}{1 - e^{2\pi m/y}} \right) + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} e^{-2mw/y} \left(\frac{e^{\pi m/y}}{1 - e^{2\pi m/y}} \right) + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} e^{2wm/y} \left(\frac{e^{\pi m/y}}{1 - e^{2\pi m/y}} \right).$$

So we have to prove that

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \left(\frac{1}{1 - e^{2\pi ym}} \right) + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} e^{-2iwm} \left(\frac{e^{\pi ym}}{1 - e^{2\pi ym}} \right) \\ &+ \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} e^{2iwm} \left(\frac{e^{\pi ym}}{1 - e^{2\pi ym}} \right) - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{m} \left(\frac{1}{1 - e^{2\pi m/y}} \right) \\ &- \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} e^{-2mw/y} \left(\frac{e^{\pi m/y}}{1 - e^{2\pi m/y}} \right) - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} e^{2wm/y} \left(\frac{e^{\pi m/y}}{1 - e^{2\pi m/y}} \right) + \frac{w^2}{\pi y} = -\frac{1}{2} \log y. \end{split}$$

To prove this, consider

$$F_n(z) = -\frac{1}{8z} \cot \pi i N z \cot \pi N z / y + \frac{1}{z} \left(\frac{e^{-iNz(\pi/y + 2w/y + 2w)}}{1 - e^{-2\pi i N z / y}} \right) \left(\frac{e^{Nz(\pi + 2iw)}}{1 - e^{2\pi z N}} \right),$$

where $N = n + \frac{1}{2}$.

We will calculate the residues of $F_n(z)$ at the poles z = 0, $z = \frac{ik}{N}$ and $z = \frac{ky}{N}$ for $k = \pm 1, \pm 2, \dots, \pm n$.

We start by calculating the residue of $F_n(z)$ at z = 0. We use Bernoulli numbers to calculate the residue of the second part of the function. The residue at 0 of the first summand of the function is $\frac{i}{24}\left(y-\frac{1}{y}\right)$. Now for the second summand of the function we will use the fact that

$$\frac{z}{e^z - 1} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_n \frac{z^n}{n!},$$
(2.5)

where $B_0 = 1$, $B_1 = \frac{-1}{2}$ and $B_2 = \frac{1}{6}$. Notice that

$$\frac{1}{z} \left(\frac{e^{-iNz(\pi/y+2w/y+2w)}}{1-e^{-2\pi iNz/y}} \right) \left(\frac{e^{Nz(\pi+2iw)}}{1-e^{2\pi zN}} \right) = \frac{-y}{4\pi^2 iN^2 z^3} \left(\frac{-2\pi iNz/y}{e^{-2\pi iNz/y}-1} \right) \left(\frac{2\pi Nz}{e^{2\pi zN}-1} \right) \\ * e^{Nz(-i\pi/y-2iw/y+\pi)}.$$

Using (2.5) and the Taylor expansion of the exponential function, we see easily that the residue at z = 0 of the second summand of the function is

$$\frac{-y}{4\pi^2 i N^2} \left\{ \frac{N^2}{2} \left(-\frac{\pi^2}{y^2} - \frac{4w^2}{y^2} + \pi^2 - \frac{4\pi w}{y^2} - \frac{2\pi^2 i}{y} - \frac{4\pi i w}{y} \right) + \left(-\frac{\pi^2 N^2 i}{y} - \frac{\pi^2 N^2}{3y^2} + \frac{\pi^2 N^2}{3} \right) + \left(\frac{\pi i N^2}{y} - \pi N^2 \right) \left(-\frac{i\pi}{y} - \frac{2iw}{y} + \pi \right) \right\}.$$

Simplifying the above result, we conclude that the residue of the second summand at z = 0 is

$$\frac{w^2}{2\pi^2 iy} - \frac{i}{24}\left(y - \frac{1}{y}\right).$$

As a result we obtain

$$\operatorname{Res}[F_n(z), 0] = \frac{w^2}{2\pi^2 i y}.$$

We note that

$$\operatorname{Res}[F_n(z), \frac{ik}{N}] = \frac{1}{8\pi k} \cot \frac{\pi ik}{y} - \frac{(-1)^k}{2\pi ik} e^{2kw/y} \frac{e^{\pi k/y}}{1 - e^{2\pi k/y}}.$$

Thus,

$$\sum_{\substack{k=-n;\ k\neq 0\\z=\frac{ik}{N}}}^{n} \operatorname{Res}\left[F_{n}(z), \frac{ik}{N}\right] = 2\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{8\pi k} \cot \frac{\pi ik}{y} - \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{2\pi ik} e^{2kw/y} \frac{e^{\pi k/y}}{1 - e^{2\pi k/y}}$$
$$- \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{2\pi ik} e^{-2kw/y} \frac{e^{-\pi k/y}}{1 - e^{2\pi k/y}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{4\pi i} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{k} - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{k(1 - e^{2\pi k/y})}$$
$$- \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{2kw/y} \frac{e^{\pi k/y}}{1 - e^{2\pi k/y}}$$
$$- \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{-2kw/y} \frac{e^{\pi k/y}}{1 - e^{2\pi k/y}}.$$

The residue of $F_n(z)$ at $z = \frac{ky}{N}$ is

$$\operatorname{Res}[F_n(z), \frac{ky}{N}] = -\frac{1}{8\pi k} \cot \pi i ky + \frac{(-1)^k}{2\pi i k} e^{-2ikw} \frac{e^{\pi ky}}{1 - e^{2\pi ky}}.$$

Thus,

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\substack{k=-n;\ k\neq 0\\z=\frac{ky}{N}}}^{n} \operatorname{Res}\left[F_{n}(z), \frac{ky}{N}\right] &= 2\sum_{k=1}^{n} -\frac{1}{8\pi k} \cot \pi i ky + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{2\pi i k} e^{-2ikw} \frac{e^{\pi ky}}{1 - e^{2\pi ky}} \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{2\pi i k} e^{2ikw} \frac{e^{\pi ky}}{1 - e^{2\pi ky}} \\ &= -\frac{1}{4\pi i} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{k} + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{k(1 - e^{2\pi ky})} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{-2ikw} \frac{e^{\pi ky}}{1 - e^{2\pi ky}} + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{2ikw} \frac{e^{\pi ky}}{1 - e^{2\pi ky}}. \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$2\pi i \sum_{\substack{k=-n\\z=\frac{ky}{N};z=\frac{ik}{N}}}^{n} \operatorname{Res} F_{n}(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{k} \left(\frac{1}{1-e^{2\pi yk}} \right) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{-2iwk} \left(\frac{e^{\pi yk}}{1-e^{2\pi yk}} \right)$$
$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{2iwk} \left(\frac{e^{\pi yk}}{1-e^{2\pi yk}} \right) - \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{k} \left(\frac{1}{1-e^{2\pi k/y}} \right)$$
$$- \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{-2kw/y} \left(\frac{e^{\pi k/y}}{1-e^{2\pi k/y}} \right)$$
$$- \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{2wk/y} \left(\frac{e^{\pi k/y}}{1-e^{2\pi k/y}} \right) + \frac{w^{2}}{\pi y}.$$

It remains to prove that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \oint_c F_n(z) dz = -\frac{1}{2} \log y,$$

where C is the parallelogram of vertices y, i, -y and -i taken counterclockwise.

Now it is easy to see that $\lim_{n\to\infty} zF_n(z)$ is $\frac{1}{8}$ on the edges connecting y to i and -y to -i and the limit $-\frac{1}{8}$ on the other two edges. Moreover, $F_n(z)$ is uniformly bounded on C for all n. Hence by the bounded convergence theorem we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \oint_c F_n(z) dz = \oint_c z F_n(z) \frac{dz}{z} \\
= \frac{1}{8} \left[-\int_{-i}^y \frac{dz}{z} + \int_y^i \frac{dz}{z} - \int_i^{-y} \frac{dz}{z} + \int_{-y}^{-i} \frac{dz}{z} \right] \\
= \frac{1}{4} \left[-\int_{-i}^y \frac{dz}{z} + \int_y^i \frac{dz}{z} \right] \\
= \frac{1}{4} \left[-\left(\log y + \frac{\pi i}{2}\right) + \left(\frac{\pi i}{2} - \log y\right) \right] \\
= -\frac{1}{2} \log y.$$

This completes the proof.

2.1.1 The Jacobi function $\theta_3(\tau)$

At w = 0, we have

$$\theta_3(\tau) = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^{2n})(1 + q^{2n-1})^2$$

The transformation law is given by

$$\theta_3\left(\frac{-1}{\tau}\right) = (-i\tau)^{\frac{1}{2}}\theta_3(\tau) \quad . \tag{2.6}$$

To obtain (2.6) simply set w = 0 in (2.3).

2.1.2 The Function $w(z, \tau)$

Let

$$w(z,\tau) = e^{\frac{-\pi i\tau}{12}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 + 2q^{2n-1}\cos 2z + q^{4n-2}).$$

Using the same technique but with different $F_n(z)$, we will be able to prove that $w(\tau)$ is invariant under the transformation $\tau \to \frac{-1}{\tau}$. In other words, by defining a suitable $F_n(z)$, we will be able to prove that $w(\frac{z}{\tau}, \frac{-1}{\tau}) = w(z, \tau)$. Following exactly the same steps in proving the transformation law for $\operatorname{Re} z \neq \frac{\pi}{2} + n\pi$ where $\tau = iy$ and then using analytic continuation to extend the result, we find that it is sufficient to prove that $\log w(z, \tau) - \log w(\frac{z}{\tau}, \frac{-1}{\tau}) = 0$ for $\tau = iy$ and $\operatorname{Re} z \neq \frac{\pi}{2} + n\pi$. Using logarithmic expansion we see that

$$\log w(z, iy) = \frac{\pi y}{12} + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} e^{2imz} \frac{e^{\pi ym}}{1 - e^{2\pi ym}} + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} e^{-2imz} \frac{e^{\pi ym}}{1 - e^{2\pi ym}}.$$

So we have to prove that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\pi}{12} \left(y - \frac{1}{y} \right) &+ \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} e^{2imz} \frac{e^{\pi ym}}{1 - e^{2\pi ym}} + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} e^{-2imz} \frac{e^{\pi ym}}{1 - e^{2\pi ym}} \\ &- \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} e^{2imz} \frac{e^{\pi m/y}}{1 - e^{2\pi m/y}} - \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^m}{m} e^{-2imz} \frac{e^{\pi m/y}}{1 - e^{2\pi m/y}} = 0 \end{aligned}$$

Consider

$$F_n(z) = \frac{1}{z} \left(\frac{e^{-iNz(\pi/y + 2w/y + 2w)}}{1 - e^{-2\pi iNz/y}} \right) \left(\frac{e^{Nz(\pi + 2iw)}}{1 - e^{2\pi zN}} \right)$$

where $N = n + \frac{1}{2}$.

We repeat the process, calculating the residues of the poles of $F_n(z)$ at z = 0, $z = \frac{ik}{N}$ and at $z = \frac{ky}{N}$. As a result, we get

$$2\pi i \sum_{k=1}^{n} \operatorname{Res}[F_{n}(z), \frac{ik}{N}] + 2\pi i \sum_{k=1}^{n} \operatorname{Res}[F_{n}(z), \frac{ky}{N}]$$

$$= \frac{\pi}{12} \left(y - \frac{1}{y} \right) + \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{2ikz} \frac{e^{\pi yk}}{1 - e^{2\pi yk}}$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{-2ikz} \frac{e^{\pi yk}}{1 - e^{2\pi yk}} - \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{2ikz} \frac{e^{\pi k/y}}{1 - e^{2\pi k/y}}$$

$$- \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{-2ikz} \frac{e^{\pi k/y}}{1 - e^{2\pi k/y}}.$$

It is also easy to show that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} z F_n(z) = 0.$$

on all the edges of the parallelogram connecting y to i, i to -y, -y to -iand -i to y. We also see that $F_n z$ is uniformly bounded on C, then by the bounded convergence theorem, we get

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \oint_c F_n(z) dz = 0.$$

By the Residue Theorem, we get

$$\frac{\pi}{12}\left(y-\frac{1}{y}\right) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k}{k} e^{2ikz} \frac{e^{\pi yk}}{1-e^{2\pi yk}} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k}{k} e^{-2ikz} \frac{e^{\pi yk}}{1-e^{2\pi yk}} \\ - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k}{k} e^{2ikz} \frac{e^{\pi k/y}}{1-e^{2\pi k/y}} - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k}{k} e^{-2ikz} \frac{e^{\pi k/y}}{1-e^{2\pi k/y}} = 0.$$

As a result, we get $w(\frac{z}{\tau}, \frac{-1}{\tau}) = w(z, \tau)$

The Function $w_1(\tau)$

Letting z = 0 in $w(z, \tau)$, we get

$$w(\tau) = e^{\frac{-\pi i \tau}{12}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1+q^{2n-1})^2.$$

Define $w_1(\tau) = \sqrt{w(\tau)} = e^{-\frac{\pi i \tau}{24}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1+q^{2n-1})$. Notice that $w_1(\tau) \neq 0$ in the upper half plane. Thus by the transformation $\lim_{t \to \infty} w_1(\frac{-1}{\tau}) = \pm w_1(\tau)$. By setting $\tau = i$, we obtain

$$w_1(\frac{-1}{\tau}) = w_1(\tau).$$

2.2 Transformation Laws of a Class of Eta Products

Let τ be in the upper half plane and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. The Dedekind eta function is defined by,

$$\eta(\tau) = e^{\frac{\pi i \tau}{12}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{2\pi i n \tau}).$$

Consider

$$\Gamma_0(n) = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b \\ c & d \end{array} \right) : a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{Z}, c \equiv 0 \mod n, ad - bc = 1 \right\},$$

a congruence subgroup of the full modular group.

Suppose n > 1, and let $\{r_{\delta}\}$ and $\{r'_{\delta}\}$ be two sequences of positive integers indexed by the positive divisors δ of n and suppose that n has g divisors. Consider the function

$$g_1 = g_1(\tau) = \prod_{l=1}^g \frac{\eta(\delta_l \tau)^{r_{\delta_l}}}{\eta(\tau)^{r'_{\delta_l}}}.$$

We prove the transformation law of this function which is given by

$$g_1(V\tau) = e^{-\pi i\delta^*} \{-i(c\tau+d)\}^{\frac{1}{2}\sum_{l=1}^g r_{\delta_l} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{l=1}^g r'_{\delta_l}} g_1(\tau),$$

where

$$\delta^* = \sum_{l=1}^g \left\{ \frac{a+d}{12c} + s(-d,c) \right\} r'_{\delta_l} - \sum_{l=1}^g \left\{ \frac{a+d}{12c_l} + s(-d,c_l) \right\} r_{\delta_l},$$
$$s(h,k) = \sum_{r=1}^{k-1} \frac{r}{k} \left(\frac{hr}{k} - \left[\frac{hr}{k} \right] - \frac{1}{2} \right),$$

 $c = c_l \delta_l$, and $V \in \Gamma_0(n)$.

A special case of the above product is given by

$$f(\tau) = \prod_{l=1}^{g} \left(\frac{\eta(\delta_{l}\tau)}{\eta(\tau)}\right)^{r_{\delta_{l}}}$$

if we set $r_{\delta} = r'_{\delta}$ for every δ dividing n in $g(\tau)$.

Imposing certain conditions on r_{δ} 's and r'_{δ} 's will make $f(\tau)$ a modular function on $\Gamma_0(n)$. Another interesting special case of this product is given by

$$f_1(\tau) = \prod_{l=1}^g \eta(\delta_l \tau)^{r_{\delta_l}}$$

if we put $\sum_{\delta|n} r'_{\delta} = 0$ in $g(\tau)$.

By imposing different conditions, this time on r_{δ} 's and r'_{δ} 's, we will deduce a transformation law of $f_1(\tau)$.

2.2.1 The Transformation law of $g_1(\tau)$ under $\Gamma_0(n)$

We give a new, detailed proof using residue calculus of the transformation law under $\Gamma_0(n)$.

$$g_1(V\tau) = e^{-\pi i\delta^*} \{-i(c\tau+d)\}^{\frac{1}{2}\sum_{l=1}^g r_{\delta_l} - \frac{1}{2}\sum_{l=1}^g r'_{\delta_l}} g_1(\tau),$$

where

$$g_1(\tau) = \prod_{l=1}^g \frac{\eta(\delta_l \tau)^{r_{\delta_l}}}{\eta(\tau)^{r'_{\delta_l}}}$$

Consider $V \in \Gamma_0(n)$. Let a = h', c = k and d = -h, hence $k = k_l \delta_l$ where (h,k) = 1, k > 0, l = 1, 2, ..., g and $hh' \equiv -1 \pmod{k}$. We will write $\tau = (h + iz)/k$ and as a result $V\tau = (h' + iz^{-1})/k$.

We have to prove

$$-\sum_{l=1}^{g} \log \eta \left(\frac{\delta_{l}h' + i\delta_{l}z^{-1}}{k} \right) r_{\delta_{l}} + \sum_{l=1}^{g} \log \eta \left(\frac{\delta_{l}h + i\delta_{l}z}{k} \right) r_{\delta_{l}} + \sum_{l=1}^{g} \frac{\pi i}{12k_{l}}(h'-h)r_{\delta_{l}}$$

$$+\sum_{l=1}^{g} \pi i s(h,k_{l})r_{\delta_{l}} + \log \eta \left(\frac{h' + iz^{-1}}{k} \right) \sum_{l=1}^{g} r'_{\delta_{l}} - \log \eta \left(\frac{h + iz}{k} \right) \sum_{l=1}^{g} r'_{\delta_{l}}$$

$$-\frac{\pi i}{12k}(h'-h) \sum_{l=1}^{g} r'_{\delta_{l}} - \pi i s(h,k) \sum_{l=1}^{g} r'_{\delta_{l}}$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} (\sum_{l=1}^{g} r_{\delta_{l}} - \sum_{l=1}^{g} r'_{\delta_{l}}) \log z.$$

The logarithm here is everywhere taken with its principal branch.

Now, from the definition of $\eta(\tau)$,

$$\log \eta \left(\frac{h+iz}{k}\right) = \frac{\pi i(h+iz)}{12k} + \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \log(1 - e^{2\pi i hm/k} e^{-2\pi zm/k})$$
$$= \frac{\pi i(h+iz)}{12k} + \sum_{\mu=1}^{k} \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \log(1 - e^{2\pi i h\mu/k} e^{-2\pi z(qk+\mu)/k})$$
$$= \frac{\pi i h}{12k} - \frac{\pi z}{12k} - \sum_{\mu=1}^{k} \sum_{q=0}^{\infty} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r} e^{2\pi i h\mu r/k} e^{-2\pi z(qk+\mu)r/k}$$
$$= \frac{\pi i h}{12k} - \frac{\pi z}{12k} - \sum_{\mu=1}^{k} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{r} e^{2\pi i h\mu r/k} \frac{e^{-2\pi z\mu r/k}}{1 - e^{-2\pi zr}}.$$

Thus we have to prove that

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\nu=1}^{k_{l}} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}}{r} e^{2\pi i h' \nu r/k_{l}} \frac{e^{-2\pi \nu r/k_{l}z}}{1 - e^{-2\pi r/z}} - \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\mu=1}^{k_{l}} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}}{r} e^{2\pi i h \mu r/k_{l}} \frac{e^{-2\pi z \mu r/k_{l}}}{1 - e^{-2\pi z r}} \\ &+ \sum_{l=1}^{g} \frac{\pi r_{\delta_{l}}}{12k_{l}} \left(\frac{1}{z} - z\right) + \pi i \sum_{l=1}^{g} r_{\delta_{l}} s(h, k_{l}) - \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\nu=1}^{k} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}}{r} e^{2\pi i h' \nu r/k} \frac{e^{-2\pi \nu r/kz}}{1 - e^{-2\pi r/z}} \\ &+ \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\mu=1}^{k} \sum_{r=1}^{\infty} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}'}{r} e^{2\pi i h \mu r/k} \frac{e^{-2\pi z \mu r/k}}{1 - e^{-2\pi z r}} - \sum_{l=1}^{g} \frac{\pi r_{\delta_{l}}'}{12k} \left(\frac{1}{z} - z\right) - \pi i s(h, k) \sum_{l=1}^{g} r_{\delta_{l}}' \\ &= -\frac{1}{2} (\sum_{l=1}^{g} r_{\delta_{l}} - \sum_{l=1}^{g} r_{\delta_{l}}') \log z. \end{split}$$

We will define a function and calculate the residues of the function at the poles and prove that the sum of the residues is equal to the left side of the above equation. A sort of symmetry is needed between μ and $h\mu$. We introduce therefore

$$\mu^* \equiv h\mu \;(\mathrm{mod}k),\tag{2.7}$$

 $1 \le \mu^* \le k - 1.$

Consider the function

$$F_{n}(x) = -\frac{1}{4ix} \coth \pi Nx \cot \frac{\pi Nx}{z} \sum_{l=1}^{g} (r_{\delta_{l}} - r_{\delta_{l}}') + \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\mu=1}^{k_{l}-1} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}}{x} \frac{e^{2\pi\mu Nx/k_{l}}}{1 - e^{2\pi Nx}} \frac{e^{-2\pi i \mu^{*} Nx/k_{l} z}}{1 - e^{-2\pi i Nx/z}},$$
$$-\sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\mu=1}^{k_{l}-1} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}'}{x} \frac{e^{2\pi\mu Nx/k}}{1 - e^{2\pi Nx}} \frac{e^{-2\pi i \mu^{*} Nx/kz}}{1 - e^{-2\pi i Nx/z}},$$

where $N = n + \frac{1}{2}$. We will integrate $F_n(x)$ along the parallelogram with the vertices z, i, -z, -i and then calculate the residues of this function at its poles and then compare the two answers using the Residue Theorem.

The function $F_n(x)$ has poles at x = 0, x = ir/N and x = -zr/N for $r = \pm 1, \pm 2, \pm 3, ..., \pm n$.

The function

$$-\frac{1}{4ix} \mathrm{coth}\pi Nx \mathrm{cot}\frac{\pi Nx}{z} \sum_{l=1}^{g} (r_{\delta_l} - r'_{\delta_l})$$

has the residue

$$-\frac{\sum_{l=1}^{g}(r_{\delta_l}-r'_{\delta_l})}{12i}\left(z-\frac{1}{z}\right)$$

The residue at x=0 of

$$\sum_{l=1}^{g} \frac{r_{\delta_l}}{x} \frac{e^{2\pi\mu Nx/k_l}}{1 - e^{2\pi Nx}} \frac{e^{-2\pi i\mu^* Nx/k_l z}}{1 - e^{-2\pi i Nx/z}}$$

is

$$\sum_{l=1}^{g} \left(\frac{1}{12} - \frac{\mu}{2k_l} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mu^2}{k_l^2} \right) r_{\delta_l} z i + \sum_{l=1}^{g} \left(\frac{\mu}{k_l} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \left(\frac{\mu^*}{k_l} - \frac{1}{2} \right) r_{\delta_l} + \sum_{l=1}^{g} \left(\frac{1}{12} - \frac{\mu^*}{2k_l} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mu^{*2}}{k_l^2} \right) \frac{r_{\delta_l}}{iz}$$

The sum above has to be summed over μ from 1 to $k_l - 1$. Observe also that μ^* runs from 1 to $k_l - 1$ for all l = 1, 2, ..., g in the view of (2.7). Also the

first and the third summation are not difficult to calculate. For the middle term, observe from (2.7) that

$$\frac{\mu^*}{k_l} = \frac{h\mu}{k_l} - \left[\frac{h\mu}{k_l}\right],$$

for l = 1, 2, 3, ..., g,

so that

$$\sum_{\mu=1}^{k_l-1} \left(\frac{\mu}{k_l} - \frac{1}{2}\right) \left(\frac{\mu^*}{k_l} - \frac{1}{2}\right) = s(h, k_l).$$

The residue of the remaining function

$$\sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\mu=1}^{k_l-1} \frac{r'_{\delta_l}}{x} \frac{e^{2\pi\mu Nx/k}}{1 - e^{2\pi Nx}} \frac{e^{-2\pi i\mu^* Nx/kz}}{1 - e^{-2\pi iNx/z}}$$

is

$$\sum_{l=1}^{g} \left(\frac{1}{12} - \frac{\mu}{2k} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mu^2}{k^2} \right) r'_{\delta_l} z i + \sum_{l=1}^{g} \left(\frac{\mu}{k} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \left(\frac{\mu^*}{k} - \frac{1}{2} \right) r'_{\delta_l} + \sum_{l=1}^{g} \left(\frac{1}{12} - \frac{\mu^*}{2k} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mu^{*2}}{k^2} \right) \frac{r'_{\delta_l}}{iz}$$

Thus the residue at x = 0 of $F_n(x)$ is

$$\sum_{l=1}^{g} s(h,k_l) r_{\delta_l} + \sum_{l=1}^{g} \frac{ir_{\delta_l}}{12k_l} \left(z - \frac{1}{z}\right) - s(h,k) \sum_{l=1}^{g} r'_{\delta_l} - \sum_{l=1}^{g} \frac{ir'_{\delta_l}}{12k} \left(z - \frac{1}{z}\right)$$

The residue of $F_n(x)$ at $x = \frac{ir}{N}$ is

$$\frac{\sum_{l=1}^{g} (r_{\delta_l} - r'_{\delta_l})}{4\pi r} \cot \frac{\pi i r}{z} - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\mu=1}^{k_l-1} \frac{r_{\delta_l}}{r} e^{2\pi i \mu r/k_l} \frac{e^{2\pi \mu^* r/k_l z}}{1 - e^{2\pi r/z}} + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\mu=1}^{k-1} \frac{r'_{\delta_l}}{r} e^{2\pi i \mu r/k} \frac{e^{2\pi \mu^* r/k_l z}}{1 - e^{2\pi r/z}}.$$

It is easy to see that

$$h'\mu \equiv hh'\mu \equiv -\mu \pmod{k_l},$$

for l = 1, 2, 3, ..., g, and

$$h'\mu \equiv hh'\mu \equiv -\mu \pmod{k}.$$

As a result we get

$$\frac{\sum_{l=1}^{g} (r_{\delta_l} - r'_{\delta_l})}{4\pi i r} \coth \frac{\pi r}{z} - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\mu=1}^{k_l-1} \frac{r_{\delta_l}}{r} e^{-2\pi i h' \mu^* r/k_l} \frac{e^{2\pi \mu^* r/k_l z}}{1 - e^{2\pi r/z}} + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\mu=1}^{k-1} \frac{r'_{\delta_l}}{r} e^{-2\pi i h' \mu^* r/k} \frac{e^{2\pi \mu^* r/k_l z}}{1 - e^{2\pi r/z}}.$$

The parallelogram contains the poles $x = \frac{ir}{N}$ for $-n \le r \le -1$ and $1 \le r \le n$. We sum then over the poles and we get

$$\begin{split} & \frac{\sum_{l=1}^{g} (r_{\delta_{l}} - r_{\delta_{l}'})}{2\pi i} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \frac{1}{r} \left(\frac{2e^{-2\pi r/z}}{1 - e^{-2\pi r/z}} + 1 \right) + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\mu^{*}=1}^{k-1} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}}{r} e^{2\pi i h' \mu^{*} r/k_{l}} \frac{e^{-2\pi \mu^{*} r/k_{l}z}}{1 - e^{-2\pi r/z}} \\ & - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\mu^{*}=1}^{k-1} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}}{r} e^{2\pi i h' (k_{l} - \mu^{*}) r/k_{l}} \frac{e^{-2\pi (k_{l} - \mu^{*}) r/k_{l}z}}{e^{-2\pi r/z} - 1} \\ & - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\mu^{*}=1}^{k-1} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}}{r} e^{2\pi i h' \mu^{*} r/k} \frac{e^{-2\pi \mu^{*} r/kz}}{1 - e^{-2\pi r/z}} \\ & + \frac{1}{2\pi i} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\mu^{*}=1}^{k-1} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}}{r} e^{2\pi i h' (k - \mu^{*}) r/k} \frac{e^{-2\pi (k - \mu^{*}) r/kz}}{e^{-2\pi r/z}}. \end{split}$$

In the third and fifth sum we replace $k_l - \mu^*$ and $k - \mu^*$ by μ^* and combine it with the other sum. As a result the residue of $F_n(x)$ at $x = \frac{ir}{N}$ is given by

$$\frac{\sum_{l=1}^{g} (r_{\delta_l} - r_{\delta'_l})}{2\pi i} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \frac{1}{r} + \frac{1}{\pi i} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\nu=1}^{k_1} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \frac{r_{\delta_l}}{r} e^{2\pi i h' \nu r/k_l} \frac{e^{-2\pi \nu r/k_l z}}{1 - e^{-2\pi r/z}} \\ - \frac{1}{\pi i} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\nu=1}^{k} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \frac{r'_{\delta_l}}{r} e^{2\pi i h' \nu r/k} \frac{e^{-2\pi \nu r/k_l z}}{1 - e^{-2\pi r/z}}.$$

Similarly, we find the sum of the residues of $F_n(x)$ at $x = -\frac{zr}{N}$, $r = \pm 1, \pm 2, \pm 3, ..., \pm n$ is given by

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{i\sum_{l=1}^{g}(r_{\delta_{l}} - r_{\delta_{l}}')}{2\pi} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \frac{1}{r} &+ \frac{i}{\pi} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\nu=1}^{k_{l}} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}}{r} e^{2\pi i h\nu r/k_{l}} \frac{e^{-2\pi\nu rz/k_{l}}}{1 - e^{-2\pi rz}} \\ &- \frac{i}{\pi} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\nu=1}^{k} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}'}{r} e^{2\pi i h\nu r/k} \frac{e^{-2\pi\nu rz/k_{l}}}{1 - e^{-2\pi rz}}. \end{aligned}$$

Thus the sum of all the residues of $F_n(x)$ within the parallelogram is

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{l=1}^{g} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}}{12k_{l}i} \left(\frac{1}{z}-z\right) + \sum_{l=1}^{g} s(h,k_{l})r_{\delta_{l}} + \frac{1}{\pi i} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\nu=1}^{k_{l}} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}}{r} e^{2\pi i h'\nu r/k_{l}} \frac{e^{-2\pi\nu r/k_{l}z}}{1-e^{-2\pi r/z}} \\ &- \frac{1}{\pi i} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\nu=1}^{k_{l}} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}}{r} e^{2\pi i h'\nu r/k_{l}} \frac{e^{-2\pi\mu rz/k_{l}}}{1-e^{-2\pi rz}} - \sum_{l=1}^{g} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}'}{12ki} \left(\frac{1}{z}-z\right) - \sum_{l=1}^{g} s(h,k)r_{\delta_{l}}' \\ &- \frac{1}{\pi i} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\nu=1}^{k} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}'}{r} e^{2\pi i h'\nu r/k} \frac{e^{-2\pi\nu r/kz}}{1-e^{-2\pi r/z}} + \frac{1}{\pi i} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \sum_{\mu=1}^{k} \sum_{r=1}^{n} \frac{r_{\delta_{l}}'}{r} e^{2\pi i h'\mu r/k} \frac{e^{-2\pi\mu rz/k}}{1-e^{-2\pi rz}} \end{split}$$

What remains to prove is that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_C F_n(x) dx = -\left(\sum_{l=1}^g r_{\delta_l} - r'_{\delta_l}\right) \log z,$$

where C is the parallelogram of vertices z, i, -z, -i.

Now on the four sides of C, except at the vertices, the second and the third summands in $F_n(x)$ goes to zero as n goes to infinity. Now regarding the first part of the function, it is easy to see that

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} {\rm coth} \pi Nx {\rm cot} \frac{\pi Nx}{z} = i$$

on the sides i to -z and -i to z and that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \coth \pi N x \cot \frac{\pi N x}{z} = -i$$

on the sides i to z and -i to -z.

Therefore

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} F_n(x) = \frac{\sum_{l=1}^g r_{\delta_l} - r'_{\delta_l}}{4}$$

on the sides i to z and on -i to -z, and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} F_n(x) = -\frac{\sum_{l=1}^g r_{\delta_l} - r'_{\delta_l}}{4}$$

on the sides i to -z and on -i to z. The convergence of $F_n(x)$ is not uniform but it is bounded since the denominators of the three summands are bounded away from zero and this is because $N = n + \frac{1}{2}$ is not an integer. We then have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_C F_n(x) dx = \frac{\sum_{l=1}^g r_{\delta_l} - r'_{\delta_l}}{4} \left\{ -\int_{-i}^z \frac{dx}{x} + \int_z^i \frac{dx}{x} - \int_i^{-z} \frac{dx}{x} + \int_{-z}^{-i} \frac{dx}{x} \right\}$$
$$= \frac{\sum_{l=1}^g r_{\delta_l} - r'_{\delta_l}}{2} \left\{ -\int_{-i}^z \frac{dx}{x} + \int_z^i \frac{dx}{x} \right\}$$
$$= \frac{\sum_{l=1}^g r_{\delta_l} - r'_{\delta_l}}{2} \left\{ -\left(\log z + \frac{\pi i}{2}\right) + \left(\frac{\pi i}{2} - \log z\right) \right\}$$
$$= -\left(\sum_{l=1}^g r_{\delta_l} - r'_{\delta_l}\right) \log z.$$

2.2.2 A Special Case of $g_1(\tau)$

Let

$$f(\tau) = \prod_{l=1}^{g} \left(\frac{\eta(\delta_l \tau)}{\eta(\tau)}\right)^{r_{\delta_l}}.$$

Also suppose that

$$\frac{1}{24} \sum_{l=1}^{g} (\delta_l - 1) r_{\delta_l} \tag{2.8}$$

is an integer and

$$\frac{1}{24} \sum_{l=1}^{g} (\delta'_l - n) r_{\delta_l}$$
(2.9)

is an integer,

where $n = \delta_l \delta'_l$,

$$\prod_{l=1}^{g} \delta_l^{r_{\delta_l}} \tag{2.10}$$

is a rational square, and $r_1 = 0$.

It is easy to see that $f(\tau)$ is the special case of $g_1(\tau)$ in which $r_{\delta} = r'_{\delta}$ for all δ dividing n. We then have

$$f(V\tau) = e^{-\pi i \delta^{**}} f(\tau),$$

where

$$\delta^{**} = \sum_{l=1}^{g} \left\{ \left\{ \frac{a+d}{12c} + s(-d,c) \right\} - \left\{ \frac{a+d}{12c_l} + s(-d,c_l) \right\} \right\} r_{\delta_l}.$$

Suppose now that (a, 6) = 1 and c > 0. M. Newman [15] using (2.8), (2.9) and (2.10) showed that

$$\sum_{l=1}^{g} \left\{ \left\{ \frac{a+d}{12c} + s(-d,c) \right\} - \left\{ \frac{a+d}{12c_l} + s(-d,c_l) \right\} \right\} r_{\delta_l}$$

is an even integer. Hence,

$$f(V\tau) = f(\tau)$$

where $V \in \Gamma_0(n)$.

In [15], M. Newman mentioned that since $S = \tau + 1$ is in $\Gamma_0(n)$ for every $n, \Gamma_0(n)$ can be generated by the elements

$$\left(\begin{array}{cc}a&b\\nc&d\end{array}\right),$$

where (a, 6) = 1. Thus it is necessary to show the invariance of a function only with respect to these transformations in order to show its invariance for $\Gamma_0(n)$. Also, it suffices to consider only these substitutions for which both aand nc are positive.

2.2.3 Another Special Case of $g_1(\tau)$

Let

$$f_1(\tau) = \prod_{l=1}^g \eta(\delta_l \tau)^{r_{\delta_l}},$$

where

$$\sum_{l=1}^{g} \delta_l r_{\delta_l} \equiv 0 \pmod{24} \tag{2.11}$$

and

$$\sum_{l=1}^{g} \frac{n}{\delta_l} r_{\delta_l} \equiv 0 \pmod{24}.$$
(2.12)

Let $k = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l=1}^{g} r_{\delta_l} \in \mathbb{Z}$. It is easy to see that $f_1(\tau)$ is a special case of $g_1(\tau)$ where $\sum_{l=1}^{g} r'_{\delta_l} = 0$. We then have

$$f_1(V\tau) = e^{-\pi i \delta^{***}} \{-i(c\tau+d)\}^k f_1(\tau),$$

where

$$\delta^{***} = \sum_{l=1}^{g} \left\{ -\frac{a+d}{12c_l} - s(-d, c_l) \right\} r_{\delta_l}$$

We have to prove now that the transformation law above is the same as

$$f_1(V\tau) = \chi(d)(c\tau + d)^k f_1(\tau),$$

where $V \in \Gamma_0(n)$ and

$$\chi(d) = \left(\frac{(-1)^k \prod_{l=1}^g \delta_l^{r_{\delta_l}}}{d}\right).$$

Since k is an integer, we get

$$f_1(V\tau) = e^{-\pi i \delta^{***}} (-i)^k (c\tau + d)^k f_1(\tau)$$

What remains to prove is that

$$\chi(d) = (-i)^k e^{-\pi i \delta^{***}}.$$

Notice that $-ad \equiv -1 \pmod{c}$. Thus s(-d, c) = -s(a, c).

We have that

$$\delta M\tau = \delta \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ nc_1 & d \end{pmatrix} \tau = \begin{pmatrix} a & \delta b \\ \delta'c_1 & d \end{pmatrix} \delta\tau = M_1 \delta\tau,$$

where $M \in \Gamma_0(n)$.

Thus $\eta(\delta M \tau) = \eta(M_1 \delta \tau)$ and so

$$f(M\tau) = \prod_{l=1}^{g} \eta(\delta_l M\tau)^{r_{\delta_l}} = \prod_{l=1}^{g} \eta(M_1 \delta_l \tau)^{r_{\delta_l}}.$$

Assume now that (a, 6) = 1, c > 0 and $n = \delta_l \delta'_l$. In [15], Newman proved that

$$s(a,c) - (a+d)/12c \equiv \frac{1}{12}a(c-b-3) - \frac{1}{2}\left\{1 - \left(\frac{c}{a}\right)\right\} \pmod{2},$$

where $\left(\frac{c}{a}\right)$ is the generalized Legendre-Jacobi symbol of the quadratic reciprocity. Write $c = c_1 n$. Thus

$$\delta^{***} = \sum_{l=1}^{g} \left\{ s(a, \delta_{l}'c_{1}) - \frac{(a+d)}{12\delta_{l}'c_{1}} \right\} r_{\delta_{l}}$$

$$\equiv \frac{ac_{1}}{12} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \delta_{l}'r_{\delta_{l}} - \frac{ab}{12} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \delta_{l}r_{\delta_{l}} - \frac{3a}{12} \sum_{l=1}^{g} r_{\delta_{l}} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \left\{ 1 - \left(\frac{\delta_{l}'c_{1}}{a}\right) \right\} r_{\delta_{l}} \pmod{2}$$

$$\equiv -\frac{2ac_{1}}{24} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \delta_{l}'r_{\delta_{l}} + \frac{2ab}{24} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \delta_{l}r_{\delta_{l}} + \frac{k}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \left\{ 1 - \left(\frac{\delta_{l}}{a}\right) \right\} r_{\delta_{l}} \pmod{2}.$$

But we are given that $\sum_{l=1}^{g} \delta'_l r_{\delta_l} \equiv 0 \pmod{24}$ and $\sum_{l=1}^{g} \delta_l r_{\delta_l} \equiv 0 \pmod{24}$. Thus

$$\frac{ac_1}{12}\sum_{l=1}^g \delta'_l r_{\delta_l}$$

and

$$\frac{ab}{12}\sum_{l=1}^{g}\delta_{l}r_{\delta_{l}}$$

are even integers. Therefore, we get

$$e^{-\pi i \delta^{***}} = e^{\pi i \frac{1}{2}k} e^{\pi i \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \left\{ 1 - \left(\frac{\delta_{l}}{a}\right) \right\} r_{\delta_{l}}}$$

= $(-i)^{k} e^{\pi i \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \left\{ 1 - \left(\frac{\delta_{l}}{a}\right) \right\} r_{\delta_{l}}}.$

Now,

$$e^{\pi i \frac{1}{2} \sum_{l=1}^{g} \left\{ 1 - \left(\frac{\delta_l}{a}\right) \right\} r_{\delta_l}} = \prod_{l=1}^{g} \left(\frac{\delta_l}{a}\right)^{r_{\delta_l}}.$$

Thus

$$(-i)^k e^{-\pi i \delta^{***}} = \left(\frac{(-1)^k \prod_{l=1}^g \delta_l^{r_{\delta_l}}}{a}\right).$$

But ad - bc = 1, as a result we get

$$(-i)^k e^{-\pi i \delta^{***}} = \left(\frac{(-1)^k \prod_{l=1}^g \delta_l^{r_{\delta_l}}}{d}\right),$$

and hence

$$f_1(V\tau) = \chi(d)(c\tau + d)^k f_1(\tau)$$

where $\chi(d) = \left(\frac{(-1)^k \prod_{l=1}^g \delta_l^{r\delta_l}}{d}\right).$

2.3 Comments on Generalizing the Proof of Section (2.1)

In this section, we define $\theta_3(w, \tau)$ in several variables. We call it $G(w, \tau)$. We give several steps in a process that allows us to generalize the proof of the transformation law of $\theta_3(w, \tau)$ to $G(w, \tau)$. So we let $w = (w_1, w_2, w_3, ..., w_s) \in$ \mathbb{C} be a complex s-tuple. The function $G(w, \tau)$ is defined by,

$$G(w,\tau) = \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-q^{2n}) \prod_{r=1}^{s} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1+2q^{2n-1}\cos 2w_r + q^{4n-2}) \quad , \tag{2.13}$$

where $q = e^{\pi i \tau}$ and τ is in the upper half plane. The transformation law is given by,

$$G\left(\frac{w}{\tau}, \frac{-1}{\tau}\right) = (-i\tau)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-\frac{|w|^2}{\pi i\tau}} e^{\frac{(1-s)\pi i(\tau+(1/\tau))}{12}} G(w,\tau) \quad .$$
(2.14)

First, we prove (2.14) for $\tau = iy$, where $y > \frac{2|t|}{\pi}$, where $w = \sigma + it$, then extend the result to all τ in the upper half plane by analytic continuation. In proving the transformation law of the logarithmic derivative, we will encounter some problems with the zeroes of the theta function. The zeroes of $G(w, \tau)$ are at $w_r = \frac{\pi}{2} + \frac{\pi\tau}{2} + m\pi + n\pi\tau$, for $m, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ for any r.

To solve this problem, we first fix w_r such that $\operatorname{Re} w_r \neq \frac{\pi}{2} + n\pi$ for every r and prove the transformation law for $\tau = iy$ and prove (2.14) using the logarithmic derivative. We then deduce (2.14) and extend the result by analytic continuation to the whole τ plane. Once we have it for all w such that $\operatorname{Re} w_r \neq \frac{\pi}{2} + n\pi$ for all r we use analytic continuation in the w space to extend the result to all w.

Theorem 2.2 If $\tau = iy$ and $y > \frac{2|t|}{\pi}$, where $w = (\sigma_1 + it_1, \sigma_2 + it_2, ..., \sigma_s + it_s)$ and $|t| = (\sum_{r=1}^{s} t_r^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$, the transformation formula is

$$G\left(\frac{w}{iy}, \frac{i}{y}\right) = (y)^{\frac{1}{2}} e^{-(1-s)\pi(y-1/y)} e^{\frac{|w|^2}{\pi y}} G(w, iy) \quad .$$
(2.15)

So we follow the same steps as in the proof of $\theta_3(w, \tau)$, by expanding (2.15) in terms of its Taylor series. As before, we will use residue calculus to prove the transformation law. To prove this, consider

$$F_n(z) = -\frac{1}{8z} \cot \pi i N z \cot \pi N z / y + \frac{1}{z} \sum_{r=1}^s \left(\frac{e^{-iNz(\pi/y + 2w_r/y + 2w_r)}}{1 - e^{-2\pi i N z/y}} \right) \left(\frac{e^{Nz(\pi + 2iw_r)}}{1 - e^{2\pi z N}} \right),$$

where $N = n + \frac{1}{2}$.

We then calculate the residues of $F_n(z)$ at the poles z = 0, $z = \frac{ik}{N}$ and $z = \frac{ky}{N}$ for $k = \pm 1, \pm 2, \dots$. So we get

$$2\pi i \sum_{\substack{k=-n\\ z=\frac{ky}{N}; z=\frac{ik}{N}}^{n}} \operatorname{Res} F_{n}(z) = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{k} \left(\frac{1}{1-e^{2\pi yk}} \right) + \sum_{r=1}^{s} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{-2iw_{r}k} \left(\frac{e^{\pi yk}}{1-e^{2\pi yk}} \right) \\ + \sum_{r=1}^{s} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{2iw_{r}k} \left(\frac{e^{\pi yk}}{1-e^{2\pi yk}} \right) - \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{k} \left(\frac{1}{1-e^{2\pi k/y}} \right) \\ - \sum_{r=1}^{s} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{-2kw_{r}/y} \left(\frac{e^{\pi k/y}}{1-e^{2\pi k/y}} \right) \\ - \sum_{r=1}^{s} \sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{(-1)^{k}}{k} e^{2w_{r}k/y} \left(\frac{e^{\pi k/y}}{1-e^{2\pi k/y}} \right) + \frac{|w|^{2}}{\pi y} \\ - \frac{(1-s)\pi(y-(1/y))}{12}.$$

Note also that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \oint_c F_n(z) dz = -\frac{1}{2} \log y,$$

where C is the parallelogram of vertices y, i, -y and -i taken counterclockwise. As a result, we get Theorem 2.2 using residue calculus.

CHAPTER 3

Generalized Modular Forms Representable As Eta-Products

3.1 Introduction

Let τ be in the upper half plane and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. The Dedekind eta function is defined by

$$\eta(\tau) = e^{\frac{\pi i \tau}{12}} \prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1 - e^{2\pi i n \tau})$$

and the Generalized Dedekind η -function is defined by

$$\eta_{\delta,g}(\tau) = e^{\pi i P_2(\frac{g}{\delta})\delta\tau} \prod_{\substack{m>0\\m\equiv g \pmod{\delta}}} (1-x^m) \prod_{\substack{m>0\\m\equiv -g \pmod{\delta}}} (1-x^m),$$

where $x = e^{2\pi i \tau}$, $\tau \in H$, $P_2(t) = \{t\}^2 - \{t\} + \frac{1}{6}$ is the second Bernoulli function, and $\{t\} = t - [t]$ is the fractional part of t. Note that $\eta_{\delta,0}(\tau) = \eta(\delta\tau)^2$ and that $\eta_{\delta,\delta/2}(\tau) = \frac{\eta^2((\delta/2)\tau)}{\eta^2(\delta\tau)}$.

Consider

$$\Gamma_0(N) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} : a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{Z}, c \equiv 0 \mod N, ad - bc = 1 \right\},\$$

$$\Gamma_1(N) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} : a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{Z}, c \equiv 0 \mod N, a \equiv d \equiv 1 \mod N, ad - bc = 1 \right\},$$

and

$$\Gamma(N) = \left\{ \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & b \\ c & d \end{array} \right) : a, b, c, d \in \mathbb{Z}, a \equiv d \equiv 1 \mod N, b \equiv c \equiv 0 \mod N, ad - bc = 1 \right\}$$

which are congruence subgroups of the full modular group.

Definition 3.1 A generalized modular form (GMF) of weight k on Γ is a function $f(\tau)$ meromorphic throughout the complex upper plane H, which is also meromorphic at the cusps and satisfies the transformation law

$$f(M\tau) = \nu(M)(c\tau + d)^k f(\tau),$$

for all $M \in \Gamma$. Here we allow the possibility that $|\nu(M)| \neq 1$.

In [9], Kohnen and Mason presented the proof of the following theorem.

Theorem 3.1 Let f be a GMF of weight 0. Assume that f has no poles or zeroes in $H \cup \mathbb{Q} \cup \infty$. Assume furthermore that Γ is a congruence subgroup and that the Fourier coefficients at $i\infty$ are rational and are p-integral for all but a finite number of primes p. Then f is constant.

Afterwards, they considered the subgroup $\Gamma_0(N)$ and proved that a GMF with its zeroes and poles supported at the cusps, and such that the order of the function at the cusp is independent of the numerator of that cusp with the above conditions on the Fourier coefficients, is a classical eta-product. Their result is given in Theorem 3.2 below. In this chapter we replace the condition imposed by Kohnen and Mason on the order of the function at the cusp by a condition on N. We then prove a theorem with conditions at the cusps which are similar to those of Kohnen and Mason, but on $\Gamma_1(N)$ instead of $\Gamma_0(N)$. It will turn out that functions with such conditions upon the order of the function at the cusps are also representable as eta products on $\Gamma_1(N)$. Finally, we deduce a similar theorem on $\Gamma(N)$.

The theorem of Kohnen and Mason on the subgroup $\Gamma_0(N)$ is as follows. Note that a complete set of representatives of the cusps of $\Gamma_0(N)$ [9] is given by

$$\frac{a}{c}$$
 (3.1)

where c divides N and a is taken modulo N, with (a, N) = 1 and the a's are inequivalent modulo $(c, \frac{N}{c})$.

Theorem 3.2 Let f be a GMF of integral weight k on $\Gamma_0(N)$. Suppose that the poles and zeroes of f are supported at the cusps. Suppose that the Fourier coefficients at $i\infty$ are rational and are p-integral for all but a finite number of primes p. Suppose further that the order of the function f at each cusp of $\Gamma_0(N)$ is independent of a. Then f is an eta-quotient, i.e. there are integers $M \neq 0$ and $m_t(t \mid N)$ such that

$$f^M(\tau) = c \prod_{t|N} \Delta(t\tau)^{m_t}.$$

where $\Delta(\tau) = \eta(\tau)^{24}$.

Notice that $f^M / \prod_{t|N} \Delta(t\tau)^{m_t}$ has Fourier coefficients at $i\infty$ which are rational and p integral. This is due to the fact that the product in the denominator has integer coefficients with 1 as a leading coefficient. Theorem 3.2 then easily follows from Theorem 3.1.

We can now present special cases of this theorem. If N = p, where p is a prime, we have two cusps for $\Gamma_0(p)$, one with denominator 1 and one with denominator p, so the condition on the order of the function at the cusps is automatic. For N square free, this condition is automatic, since for each divisor of N, we have only one cusp whose denominator is this divisor. To modify the condition at the order of the cusps we define a class of functions which is a form on $\Gamma_1(N)$ and then lift it by applying a coset operator. We now present another class of functions called the Generalized Dedekind η -Products. Consider

$$f(\tau) = \prod_{\substack{\delta \mid N \\ g}} \eta_{\delta,g}^{r_{\delta,g}}(\tau), \qquad (3.2)$$

where $0 \leq g < \delta$ and $r_{\delta,g}$ are integers and may be half integers only if g = 0 or $g = \frac{\delta}{2}$ (we allow half integers in order to include the ordinary eta products). In [20], S. Robins proved that (3.2) is a modular function on $\Gamma_1(N)$ by imposing certain conditions on the $r_{\delta,g}$'s. It will be sufficient for our purposes to note that the above function is a classical modular form on $\Gamma_1(N)$ with a multiplier system. For $A \in \Gamma_1(N)$, the transformation law of the $f(\tau)$ is given by

$$f(A\tau) = f(\tau)e^{\pi i \sum \mu_{\delta,g} r_{\delta,g}},$$

where

$$\mu_{\delta,g} = \frac{\delta a}{c} P_2(\frac{g}{\delta}) + \frac{\delta d}{c} P_2(\frac{ag}{\delta}) - 2s(a, \frac{c}{\delta}, 0, \frac{g}{\delta})$$

and s(h, k, x, y) is the Meyer sum, a generalized Dedekind Sum, defined by

$$s(h,k,x,y) = \sum_{\mu \mod k} \left(\left(h(\frac{\mu+y}{k}) + x \right) \right) \left(\left(\frac{\mu+y}{k} \right) \right)$$

As usual $((x)) = x - [x] - \frac{1}{2}$ if x is not an integer and 0 otherwise.

3.2 GMF's on $\Gamma_0(N)$ Representable as Generalized Eta-Products

As we have already pointed out, a complete set of representatives of the cusps of $\Gamma_0(N)$ is given by

$$\frac{a}{c}$$
 (3.3)

where c is a positive divisor of N and a runs through integers with $1 \le a \le N$, (a,N)=1 that are inequivalent modulo $(c, \frac{N}{c})$. The width of the cusp $\frac{a}{c}$ in (3.3) is given by

$$w_{a/c} = \frac{N}{(c^2, N)}.$$

Theorem 3.3 Let f be a GMF of rational weight k' on $\Gamma_0(N)$. Suppose that the poles and zeroes of f are supported at the cusps. Suppose further that the Fourier coefficients at $i\infty$ are rational and are p-integral for all but a finite number of primes p and that the rank of

$$\left((\delta, c)^2 P_2(ag/(\delta, c))\right)_{(\delta|N, 0 \le g < \delta), (c|N, a)}$$
(3.4)

is equal to the number of cusps, where the coloumns of the matrix corresponds to the cusps a/c of $\Gamma_0(N)$. Then f is a classical modular form.

Remark: Note that the rank of the above matrix is less than or equal to the number of cusps.

Proof

For given integers $r_{\delta,g}$ put

$$F(\tau) = \prod_{\delta \mid N} \prod_{0 \le g < \delta} \eta_{\delta,g}(\tau)^{r_{\delta,g}},$$

F is a modular form on $\Gamma_1(N)$ of weight $k = \sum r_{\delta,0}$ and by [20],

$$\operatorname{ord}_{a/c} F = \frac{w_{a/c}}{2} \sum_{\delta | N} \sum_{0 \le g < \delta} \frac{(\delta, c)^2}{\delta} P_2\left(\frac{ag}{(\delta, c)}\right) r_{\delta,g}.$$

We now consider the cosets of $\Gamma_1(N)$ in $\Gamma_0(N)$. By applying the operator defined below, we lift the above generalized eta product from a modular form on $\Gamma_1(N)$ to a modular form on $\Gamma_0(N)$. For $\beta_j = \begin{pmatrix} a_j & b_j \\ c_j & d_j \end{pmatrix}$ and F a function on H, we define the following operator

$$F \mid_k \beta_j = (c_j \tau + d_j)^{-k} F(\beta_j \tau).$$

Let

$$H(F) = \prod_{j} F \mid_{k} \beta_{j}$$

where $\{\beta_j\}$ are coset representatives. We see that

$$F(\tau) \mid_k \beta_j = (c_j \tau + d_j)^{-k} \prod_{\delta \mid N} \prod_{0 \le g < \delta} \eta_{\delta,g} (\beta_j \tau)^{r_{\delta,g}}.$$

Recall that F is a modular form on $\Gamma_1(N)$ of weight k. It follows that H(F)is a modular form on the larger group $\Gamma_0(N)$ of weight $k_1 = |\Gamma_1(N) \setminus \Gamma_0(N)| k$. We have to determine the order of H(F) at any cusp of $\Gamma_0(N)$. We have to show first that after we apply the operator we again get an eta product and that the operator will not affect the order of the function at the cusps as calculated in [20]. Recall that Robins presented the transformation of $\eta_{\delta,g}$ under $A \in \Gamma_0(N)$. For $g \neq 0$ and $A = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \Gamma_0(N)$ we have,

$$\eta_{\delta,g}(A\tau) = e^{\pi i \mu_{\delta,g}} \eta_{\delta,ag}(\tau) \tag{3.5}$$

where

$$\mu_{\delta,g} = \frac{\delta a}{c} P_2(\frac{g}{\delta}) + \frac{\delta d}{c} P_2(\frac{ag}{\delta}) - 2s(a, \frac{c}{\delta}, 0, \frac{g}{\delta})$$

and s(h, k, x, y) is the Meyer Sum, a generalized Dedekind sum. Thus if $\beta_j = \begin{pmatrix} a_j & b_j \\ c_j & d_j \end{pmatrix}$ and for a given δ where $(a_j, \delta) = 1$, if $0 \le g < \delta$, then $a_j g$ will run through a complete set of representatives modulo δ and also for a given δ , if $g_1 \equiv -g_2 \mod \delta$, then

$$\prod_{\substack{m>0\\m\equiv g_1 \pmod{\delta}}} (1-x^m) \prod_{\substack{m>0\\m\equiv -g_1 \pmod{\delta}}} (1-x^m) = \prod_{\substack{m>0\\m\equiv g_2 \pmod{\delta}}} (1-x^m) \prod_{\substack{m>0\\m\equiv -g_2 \pmod{\delta}}} (1-x^m)$$
and

$$P_2(\frac{g_1}{\delta}) = P_2(\frac{k\delta - g_2}{\delta}) = P_2(1 - \frac{g_2}{\delta}) = P_2(\frac{g_2}{\delta}),$$

by (3.5). Hence

$$\eta_{\delta,g_1}=\eta_{\delta,g_2}.$$

Recall also that $\beta_j \in \Gamma_0(N)$. Also $\eta_{\delta,0}$ and $\eta_{\delta,\delta/2}$ are forms on $\Gamma_0(\delta)$ and hence on $\Gamma_0(N)$. As a result, we have

$$F(\tau) \mid_{k} \beta_{j} = \nu_{j}(c_{j}\tau + d_{j})^{-k} \prod_{\delta \mid N} \prod_{0 \leq g < \delta} \eta_{\delta,g}(\beta_{j}\tau)^{r_{\delta,g}}$$
$$= \nu_{j}(c_{j}\tau + d_{j})^{-k} \prod_{\delta \mid N} \eta_{\delta,0}(\beta_{j}\tau)^{r_{\delta,0}} \prod_{\delta \mid N} \prod_{0 < g < \delta} \eta_{\delta,g}(\beta_{j}\tau)^{r_{\delta,g}}$$
$$= \nu_{j}^{*} \prod_{\delta \mid N} \eta_{\delta,0}(\tau)^{r_{\delta,0}} \prod_{\delta \mid N} \prod_{0 < g < \delta} \eta_{\delta,g}(\tau)^{r_{\delta,g}},$$

$$H(F) = \nu \prod_{\delta \mid N} \prod_{0 \le g < \delta} \eta_{\delta,g}(\tau)^{r'_{\delta,g}}$$

where again $r'_{\delta,g} = \sum_j r_{\delta,a_jg}$ are new exponents and ν is a constant depending on β_j for all j. Using the condition (3.4), we have to solve now for $r'_{\delta,g}$. To do this we have to determine the order of H(F) at the cusps. In [20], it is given that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{a/c} \prod_{\delta|N} \eta_{\delta,g}^{r_{\delta,g}} = \frac{w_{a/c}}{2} \sum_{\delta|N} \frac{(\delta,c)^2}{\delta} P_2\left(\frac{ag}{(\delta,c)}\right) r_{\delta,g}.$$

Thus

$$\operatorname{ord}_{a/c} H(F) = \frac{w_{a/c}}{2} \sum_{\delta \mid N} \sum_{0 \le g < \delta} \frac{(\delta, c)^2}{\delta} P_2\left(\frac{ag}{(\delta, c)}\right) r'_{\delta,g}$$

Notice now that the product of two expressions whose Fourier coefficients are rational and p-integral for all but a finite number of primes has rational Fourier coefficients that are p-integral for all but a finite number of primes p. $\eta_{\delta,g}(\tau)$ has Fourier coefficients that are rational and p-integral for all but a finite number of primes. Thus the Fourier coefficients of H(F) are rational and p-integral for all but a finite number of primes since H(F) turned to be a generalized eta product. We still want to show that $r'_{\delta,g}$ can be chosen so that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{a/c}H(F) = mh_{a/c},\tag{3.6}$$

for all cusps a/c of $\Gamma_0(N)$. Here $h_{a/c}$ is the order of f at a/c and m is an appropriate non-zero integer depending only on f. By hypothesis, the rank of

$$\left((\delta,c)^2 P_2(ag/(\delta,c))\right)_{(\delta|N,0\leq g<\delta),(c|N,a)}$$

is equal to the number of cusps. Therefore we can choose $r'_{\delta,g}$ so that (3.6) is satisfied, with an appropriate m. Since η does not vanish on H, we find from the valence formula applied to H(F) that the sum of the orders of H(F) at the different cusps of $\Gamma_0(N)$ is equal to

$$\frac{k_1}{12}[\Gamma(1):\Gamma_0(N)].$$

On the other hand, the valence formula is also valid for the GMF f of weight k' [8]. We then deduce from (3.6) that

$$k_1 = mk'.$$

We see that $f^m/H(F)$ is a GMF satisfying all the assumptions of Theorem 3.1. We conclude that $f^m = cH(F)$, as required.

Note that for $N = p_1 p_2 \dots p_n$ square-free, the cusps of $\Gamma_0(N)$ are $1/1, 1/p_1, 1/p_2, \dots 1/p_n$ and 1/N. Hence $\Gamma_0(N)$ satisfies the condition at the order of the cusps given in the paper of Kohnen and Mason.

For $N = p^2$, the condition of Kohnen and Mason fails and the condition of Thereom 3.3 fails too. This happens because $P_2(a_1g/(\delta, c)) = P_2(a_2g/(\delta, c))$ for c = p and for all $a_1 \equiv -a_2 \mod p$ for all g and thus

$$\left((\delta,c)^2 P_2(ag(\delta,c))\right)_{(\delta|N,0\leq g<\delta),(c|N,a)}$$

has a rank smaller than the number of cusps.

3.3 GMF's on $\Gamma_1(N)$ Representable as Eta-Products

Every cusp of $\Gamma_1(N)$ is equivalent to

$$\frac{a}{c}$$
 (3.7)

where c is taken modulo N and a is taken modulo d = (N, c) and (a, d) = 1. Moreover, for every cusp of $\Gamma_1(N)$ there exist precisely two fractions a/c of the above form that are equivalent to that cusp. The width of the every cusp in (3.7) is given by

$$w_{a/c} = \frac{N}{(c,N)}.$$

Theorem 3.4 Let f be a GMF of integral weight k on $\Gamma_1(N)$. Suppose that the poles and zeroes of f are supported at the cusps and that the Fourier coefficients at $i\infty$ are rational and are p-integral for all but a finite number of primes p. Suppose further that the order of the function f at each cusp of $\Gamma_1(N)$ is independent of a and for the cusps a_1/c_1 whose denominator does not divide N, the function will have the same order at a_1/c_1 as at those cusps whose denominators are (c_1, N) . Then f is an eta quotient, i.e., there are integers $M \neq 0$ and $m_t(t \mid N)$ such that

$$f^M(\tau) = c \prod_{t|N} \Delta(t\tau)^{m_t}.$$

Proof We have

$$\Delta(\tau) = q \prod_{n \ge 1} (1 - q^n)^{24}.$$

For given integers m_t put

$$F(\tau) = \prod_{t|N} \Delta(t\tau)^{m_t}.$$

Then F is a modular form on $\Gamma_1(N)$ and

$$\operatorname{ord}_{a/c}F = w_{a/c}\left(\sum_{t|N} \frac{(t,c)^2}{t}m_t\right)$$

Note that the order at every cusp a/c is independent of a and hence F itself satisfies the order condition given by Theorem 3.4. Moreover the conditions imposed in the theorem are important since $\sum_{t|N}$ in the above expression for $\operatorname{ord}_{a/c}$ runs only over the divisors of N. We want to show that m_t can be chosen so that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{a/c}F = mh_{a/c} \tag{3.8}$$

for all cusps a/c of $\Gamma_1(N)$. Here $h_{a/c}$ is the order of f^{12} at a/c and m is an appropriate non-zero integer depending only on f. Note that by assumption $h_{a/c}$ is independent of a. Note that in our case for $\Gamma_1(N)$, the denominator of the cusp is taken modulo N, not as a divisor of N as in the case of $\Gamma_0(N)$. Since we are given that the order of the function at the cusp a/c whose denominator doesn't divide N is equal to the order of the function at the cusp whose denominator is (c, N), there are $\sigma_0(N)$ equations. So as in the proof of Mason and Kohnen, it will be sufficient to prove that the square matrix

$$A_N = \left((t, c)^2 \right)_{t|N, c|N}$$

of size $\sigma_0(N) \times \sigma_0(N)$ is invertible. Now using [2], we see that

$$A'_N = ((t,c))_{t|N,c|N}$$

is positive definite and hence invertible. The Oppenheim Inequality [9] states that if two matrices A and B are positive definite matrices, then

$$|A \circ B| \ge |B| \prod_{i} a_{ii},$$

where \circ denotes the Hadamard product of matrices. As a result

$$|A'_N \circ A'_N| = |A_N| \ge |A'_N| \prod_i a_{ii}.$$

Thus our matrix is invertible. We then have established formula (3.8), with an appropriate m.

Let k_1 be the weight of F. Since Δ does not vanish on H, we find from the valence formula applied to F that the sum of the orders of F at the different cusps of $\Gamma(N)$ is equal to

$$\frac{k_1}{12}[\Gamma(1):\Gamma_1(N)].$$

On the other hand, the valence formula is also valid for the GMF f^{12} of weight 12k [8]. We then deduce from (3.8) that

$$k_1 = 12mk.$$

Letting M = 12m we see that f^m/F is a GMF satisfying all the assumptions of Theorem 3.1. We conclude that $f^M = cF$, as required. We now change one of the conditions in the above theorem from a condition on the order of the function at the cusps to a condition on the level N of the congruence subgroup.

Theorem 3.5 Let f be a GMF of integral weight k on $\Gamma_1(N)$, and suppose that the poles and zeroes of f are supported at the cusps. Suppose that the Fourier coefficients at $i\infty$ are rational and are p-integral for all but a finite number of primes p. Suppose further that for the cusps a/c whose denominator does not divide N, the function will have the same order at a/c as any of those cusps whose denominators are (c, N) and that the rank of

$$\left((\delta, c)^2 P_2(ag/(\delta, c))\right)_{(\delta|N, 0 \le g < \delta), (c|N, a)}$$
(3.9)

is equal to the number of cusps whose denominator divides N. Then f is a classical modular form.

Proof For given integers $r_{\delta,g}$ put

$$F(\tau) = \prod_{\delta \mid N} \prod_{0 \le g < \delta} \eta_{\delta,g}(\tau)^{r_{\delta,g}}$$

We want to find $r_{\delta,g}$ such that $f^m = cF$ for some constant c. F is a modular form on $\Gamma_1(N)$ of weight $k_1 = \sum r_{\delta,0}$ and by [20],

$$\operatorname{ord}_{a/c} F = \frac{w_{a/c}}{2} \sum_{\delta | N} \sum_{0 \le g < \delta} \frac{(\delta, c)^2}{\delta} P_2\left(\frac{ag}{(\delta, c)}\right) r_{\delta,g}.$$

Using the condition (3.9), we have to solve now for $r_{\delta,g}$. Notice now that the product of two expressions whose Fourier coefficients are rational and pintegral for all but a finite number of primes has its Fourier coefficients to be rational and p-integral for all but a finite number of primes. $\eta_{\delta,g}(\tau)$ has rational Fourier coefficients that are p-integral for all but a finite number of primes. Thus the Fourier coefficients of F are rational and p-integral for all but a finite number of primes since F is a generalized eta product. We still want to show that $r_{\delta,g}$ can be chosen so that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{a/c}F = mh_{a/c},\tag{3.10}$$

for all cusps a/c of $\Gamma_0(N)$. Here $h_{a/c}$ is the order of f at a/c and m is an appropriate non-zero integer depending only on f. It is given that the rank of (3.9) is equal to the number of cusps whose denominator divides N. Thus we have a non trivial solution. Thus we have established formula (3.10), with an appropriate m. Since η does not vanish on H, we find from the valence formula applied to F that the sum of the orders of F at the different cusps of $\Gamma_1(N)$ is equal to

$$\frac{k_1}{12}[\Gamma(1):\Gamma_1(N)].$$

On the other hand, the valence formula is also valid for the GMF f of weight k [8]. We then deduce from (3.10) that

$$k_1 = mk.$$

We see that f^m/F is a GMF satisfying all the assumptions of theorem 3.1. We conclude that $f^m = cF$, as required.

3.4 GMF's on $\Gamma(N)$ Representable as Eta-Products

A complete set of representatives of the cusps of $\Gamma(N)$ is given by:

where c is taken modulo N and a is taken modulo N and (a, d = (N, c)) = 1. In this set of representatives, the cusps pair up. The width of the every cusp $\frac{a}{c}$ in (3.11) is given by

$$w_{a/c} = N.$$

In the case of $\Gamma(N)$, we can also derive a theorem with strong restrictions at the order of the function at the cusps and then in a following theorem, we relax those conditions by imposing a condition on N as in the case of $\Gamma_1(N)$.

Theorem 3.6 Let f be a GMF of integral weight k on $\Gamma(N)$. Suppose that the poles and zeroes of f are supported at the cusps and that the Fourier coefficients

at i ∞ are rational and are p-integral for all but a finite number of primes p. Suppose further that the order of the function f at each cusp a/c of $\Gamma(N)$ is independent of a and for the cusps a_1/c_1 whose denominator does not divide N, the function will have the same order as those cusps whose denominators are (c_1, N) . Then f is an eta quotient, i.e. there are integers $M \neq 0$ and m_t $(t \mid N)$ such that

$$f^M(\tau) = c \prod_{t|N} \Delta(t\tau)^{m_t}.$$

Proof We have

$$\Delta(\tau) = q \prod_{n \ge 1} (1 - q^n)^{24}.$$

For given integers m_t put

$$F(\tau) = \prod_{t|N} \Delta(t\tau)^{m_t}.$$

Then F is a modular form on $\Gamma(N)$ and

$$\operatorname{ord}_{a/c}F = w_{a/c}\left(\sum_{t|N} \frac{(t,c)^2}{t}m_t\right)$$

Note that the order at every cusp a/c is independent of a. We want to show that m_t can be chosen so that

$$\operatorname{ord}_{a/c}F = mh_{a/c} \tag{3.12}$$

for all cusps a/c of $\Gamma_1(N)$. Here $h_{a/c}$ is the order of f^{12} at a/c and m is an appropriate non-zero integer depending only on f. Note that by assumption $h_{a/c}$ is independent of a. It will also be sufficient to prove that the square matrix

$$A_N = \left((t, c)^2 \right)_{t|N, c|N}$$

~`

of size $\sigma_0(N)$ is invertible. The above matrix is exactly the same matrix that appeared in the case of $\Gamma_1(N)$. Hence we have established formula (3.12), with an appropriate m.

Let k_1 be the weight of F. Since Δ does not vanish on H, we find from the valence formula applied to F that the sum of the orders of F at the different cusps of $\Gamma(N)$ is equal to

$$\frac{k_1}{12}[\Gamma(1):\Gamma(N)].$$

On the other hand, the valence formula is also valid for the GMF f^{12} of weight 12k [8]. We then deduce from (3.12) that

$$k_1 = 12mk.$$

Letting M = 12m we see that f^m/F is a GMF satisfying all the assumptions of Theorem 3.1. We conclude that $f^M = cF$, as required. We now change one of the conditions in the above theorem from a condition on the order of the function at the cusps to a condition on the level N of the congruence subgroup.

Theorem 3.7 Let f be a GMF of integral weight k on $\Gamma(N)$, and suppose that the poles and zeroes of f are supported at the cusps. Suppose that the Fourier coefficients at $i\infty$ are rational and are p-integral for all but a finite number of primes p. Suppose further that for the cusps a/c whose denominator does not divide N, the function will have the same order at a/c as at any of those cusps whose denominators are (c, N) and that the rank of

$$\left((\delta, c)^2 P_2(ag/(\delta, c))\right)_{(\delta|N, 0 \le g < \delta), (c|N, a)}$$
(3.13)

is equal to the number of cusps whose denominator divides N. Then f is a classical modular form.

Proof Follow exactly the proof of Theorem 3.5.

CHAPTER 4

Arithmetic Identities

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we determine arithmetic identities modulo 3, 7 and 4. The groups associated to the arithmetic identities are $\Gamma_0(3)$, $\Gamma_0(7)$ and $\Gamma_0(4)$. Notice that the three groups in question all have a fundamental region whose closure has genus 0, so there exists no nontrivial cusp forms of weight 2 and trivial multiplier system, i.e., $S_2(\Gamma_0(n)) = \{0\}$ for n = 3, 4, 7. Notice also that each of $\Gamma_0(3)$ and $\Gamma_0(7)$ has two cusps, so $M_2(\Gamma_0(3))$ and $M_2(\Gamma_0(7))$ have a basis consisting of one Eisenstein series while $M_2(\Gamma_0(4))$ has three cusps and hence dim $M_2(\Gamma_0(4)) = 2$ (2 Eisenstein series). To determine the arithmetic identities, we need to define the following function

$$\delta_p(n) = \sum_{\substack{d|n\\d = QR \pmod{p}}} 1 - \sum_{\substack{d|n\\d \neq QR \pmod{p}}} 1 = \sum_{\substack{d|N\\d \neq QR \pmod{p}}} \chi(d)$$

where p is a prime and $\chi(d) = \begin{pmatrix} d \\ p \end{pmatrix}$ is the quadratic character mod p, and QR stands for a quadratic residue mod p. $\delta_p(n)$ will appear naturally in the Fourier coefficients of Eisenstein series of weight 1. Then we square Eisenstein series of weight 1 to get an Eisenstein series of weight 2 which span $M_2(\Gamma_0(p))$ for p = 3, 7. For n = 4, Vestal [24] determined the basis of $M_2(\Gamma_0(4))$ explicitly. It turned out that the basis of this vector space is spanned by the logarithmic derivative of the generalized Dedekind eta function for certain values of δ and g. By squaring the Eisenstein series of weight 1 on $\Gamma_0(4)$ and comparing its coefficients to the coefficients of the logarithmic derivative of the generalized eta function, we will be able to obtain some arithmetic identities modulo 4.

4.2 Arithmetic Identities Modulo 3

To determine the arithmetic identities modulo 3, notice that the space $M_2(\Gamma_0(3))$ has no cusp forms. As a result, the space $M_2(\Gamma_0(3))$ is generated by Eisenstein series.

Eisenstein series of weight 1 [11] is defined by

$$G_{1,\chi} = \sum_{m} \chi(m) G_{1,m}$$

where χ is a non trivial Dirichlet character on $(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})^*$ and $G_{1,m}$ is given by

$$G_{1,m} = \frac{m}{N} - \frac{1}{2} - \frac{q^m}{1 - q^m} + \sum_{\nu=1}^{\infty} \left[\frac{q^{\nu N - m}}{1 - q^{\nu N - m}} - \frac{q^{\nu N + m}}{1 - q^{\nu N + m}} \right]$$

For our purposes, we need Eisenstein series of weight 1 in the following form and it is given by the following theorem [11].

Theorem 4.1 Let χ be an odd character, i.e., $\chi(-1) = -1$. Then

$$G_{1,\chi} = B_{1,\chi} - 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{d|n} \chi(d)q^n$$

where $B_{m,\chi}$ $(m \in \mathbb{Z}, m \ge 0)$ is defined by

$$\sum_{a=1}^{c} \chi(a) \frac{te^{at}}{e^{ct} - 1} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} B_{n,\chi} \frac{t^n}{n!}$$
(4.1)

 $q=e^{2\pi i\tau}, \tau\in H.$

Let us define our character here:

$$\chi_3(n) = \begin{cases} 1 & n \equiv 1 \mod 3 \\ -1 & n \equiv -1 \mod 3 \\ 0 & n \equiv 0 \mod 3 \end{cases},$$

From (4.1) and the Taylor expansion of e^x , it will be easy to see that $B_{1,\chi_3} = -\frac{1}{3}$. Thus G_{1,χ_3} can be written as:

$$G_{1,\chi_3} = -\frac{1}{3} - 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \delta_3(n)q^n$$

Now G_{1,χ_3} is a modular form of weight 1 also the multiplier system of G_{1,χ_3} is ± 1 [11]. When we square it, we get a modular form of weight 2 with a trivial multiplier system, since G_{1,χ_3} has a multiplier system of values ± 1 . As we mentioned before, dim $M_2(\Gamma_0(3)) = 1$ so the basis consists of one Eisenstein series. It was shown by Hecke in 1927 that

$$E_2(z) = -\frac{\pi}{y} + \frac{\pi^2}{3}(1 - 24\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\sigma(n)e^{2\pi i n z}),$$

has the same transformation law as modular forms of weight 2 and trivial character under elements of $M_2(\Gamma(1))$ [7]. $E_2(z)$ is not holomorphic in H. However, we have the following theorem [14].

Theorem 4.2 $E_2(z) - pE_2(pz)$ is a holomorphic modular form of weight 2 on *H* with respect to $\Gamma_0(p)$ for any prime *p*.

Now applying Theorem 4.2, we see that

$$G_{2}(z) = E_{2}(z) - 3E_{2}(3z) = \frac{\pi^{2}}{3} - \frac{3\pi^{2}}{3} - 8\pi^{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma(n)e^{2\pi i n z} + 24\pi^{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma(n)e^{2\pi i 3 n z}$$
$$= \frac{-2\pi^{2}}{3} - 8\pi^{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma(n)e^{2\pi i n z} + 24\pi^{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma(n)e^{2\pi i 3 n z}.$$

 G_2 is a basis for modular forms of weight 2 since there are no cusp forms of weight 2 on $\Gamma_0(3)$. Thus $G_{1,\chi_3}^2 = cG_2$ where c is a complex number. Looking at the constant term of G_{1,χ_3} and G_2 , we find out that

$$G_{1,\chi_3}^2(z) = -\frac{1}{6\pi^2}G_2(z).$$

Thus

$$\left(-\frac{1}{3} - 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\delta_3(n)q^n\right)^2 = \frac{1}{9} + \frac{4}{3}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\sigma(n)q^n - 4\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\sigma(n)q^{3n}.$$
 (4.2)

Lemma 4.1 For $n = 3^r m$, $r \neq 0$ and (3, m) = 1, we have

$$\frac{4}{3}\sigma(n) - 4\sigma(3^{r-1}m) = \frac{4}{3}\sigma(m).$$
(4.3)

Proof

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{4}{3}\sigma(3^{r}m) - 4\sigma(3^{r-1}m) &= \frac{4}{3}\sigma(3^{r})\sigma(m) - 4\sigma(3^{r-1})\sigma(m) \\ &= \sigma(m)[\frac{4}{3}(\frac{3^{r+1}-1}{2}) - 4(\frac{3^{r}-1}{2})] \\ &= \frac{4}{3}\sigma(m). \end{aligned}$$

Expanding the above series on the left, we get the following equations that Farkas obtained in [5].

Theorem 4.3 Let n be a positive integer. If $n \equiv 1$ or $n \equiv 2$ modulo 3, we have

$$\delta_3(n) + 3\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \delta_3(j)\delta_3(n-j) = \sigma(n).$$

If $n \equiv 0$ modulo 3, say $n = 3^r m$ with (3,m)=1, then

$$\delta_3(n) + 3\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \delta_3(j)\delta_3(n-j) = \sigma(m) = \sigma'(n),$$

where

$$\sigma'(n) = \sum_{d|n, 3 \nmid d} d.$$

Proof The first identity follows directly from (4.2) and the second from (4.2) and (4.3).

4.3 Arithmetic Identities modulo 7

To determine arithmetic identities modulo 7, we repeat the same process using the fact that the space $M_2(\Gamma_0(7))$ is also spanned by one Eisenstein series. We have to define a character modulo 7 to deduce identities similar to the identities modulo 3. We now define our character to be Legendre symbol. Define

$$\chi_7(n) = \left(\frac{n}{7}\right) = \begin{cases} 1 & n = QR \mod 7 \\ -1 & n \neq QR \mod 7 \\ 0 & 7 \mid n \end{cases}$$

Now, G_{1,χ_7} is given by

$$G_{1,\chi_7} = -1 - 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \delta_7(n) q^n.$$

Similarly, we get

$$G_{2}(z) = E_{2}(z) - 7E_{2}(7z) = \frac{\pi^{2}}{3} - \frac{7\pi^{2}}{3} - 8\pi^{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma(n)e^{2\pi i n z} + 56\pi^{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma(n)e^{2\pi i 7 n z}$$
$$= -2\pi^{2} - 8\pi^{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma(n)e^{2\pi i n z} + 56\pi^{2} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma(n)e^{2\pi i 7 n z}.$$

Now G_{1,χ_7} is a modular form of weight 1, so when we square it, we get a modular form of weight 2 with a trivial multiplier system. G_2 is a basis for modular forms of weight 2 since there are no cusp forms of weight 2 on $\Gamma_0(7)$. Thus $G_{1,\chi_7} = cG_2$ where c is a complex number. Looking at the constant term of G_{1,χ_7} and G_2 , we find out that

$$G_{1,\chi_7}^2(z) = -\frac{1}{2\pi^2}G_2(z).$$

Thus we get

$$\left(-1 - 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \delta_7(n)q^n\right)^2 = 1 + 4\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma(n)q^n - 28\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sigma(n)q^{7n}.$$
 (4.4)

Lemma 4.2 For $n = 7^r m$, $r \neq 0$ where (7, m) = 1, we have

$$4\sigma(n) - 28\sigma(7^{r-1}m) = 4\sigma(m) \tag{4.5}$$

Proof

$$4\sigma(7^{r}m) - 28\sigma(7^{r-1}m) = 4\sigma(7^{r})\sigma(m) - 28\sigma(7^{r-1})\sigma(m)$$

= $\sigma(m)[4(\frac{7^{r+1}-1}{6}) - 28(\frac{7^{r}-1}{6})]$
= $4\sigma(m).$

Theorem 4.4 Let n be a positive integer, $n \neq 0$ modulo 7, we have

$$\delta_7(n) + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \delta_7(j) \delta_7(n-j) = \sigma(n)$$

If $n \equiv 0$ modulo 7, say $n = 7^r m$ with (7,m)=1, then

$$\delta_7(n) + \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \delta_7(j) \delta_7(n-j) = \sigma(m) = \sigma'(n)$$

where

$$\sigma'(n) = \sum_{d \mid n, \ 7 \nmid d} d.$$

This is another identity deduced by Farkas [5].

4.4 Arithmetic Identities Modulo 4

Let us define our character here.

$$\chi_4(n) = \left(\frac{-4}{n}\right) = \begin{cases} 1 & n \equiv 1 \mod 4\\ -1 & n \equiv -1 \mod 4\\ 0 & otherwise \end{cases},$$

Now we will consider the Eisenstein series of weight 1 on $\Gamma_0(4)$, when we square it we will get weight 2 Eisenstein series on $\Gamma_0(4)$. But $M_2(\Gamma_0(4))$ is two dimensional. In [24], Vestal determined the basis of $M_2(\Gamma_0(4))$ explicitly. We define now an arithmetic function which will appear in the Fourier expansion of the logarithmic derivative of the generalized Dedekind eta function. Define $\sigma^{\delta,g}$ by

$$\sigma^{(\delta,g)}(N) = \sum_{\substack{d \mid N \\ d \equiv g \pmod{\delta}}} d + \sum_{\substack{d \mid N \\ d \equiv -g \pmod{\delta}}} d$$

and define $\delta_{4,2}$ by

$$\delta_{4,2}(n) = \sum_{\substack{d \mid n \\ d \equiv 1 \mod 4}} 1 - \sum_{\substack{d \mid n \\ d \equiv -1 \mod 4}} 1$$

To present the basis, we use generalized Dedekind $\eta\text{-function }\eta_{\delta,g}(\tau)$. Recall that

$$\eta_{\delta,g}(\tau) = e^{\pi i P_2\left(\frac{g}{\delta}\right)\delta\tau} \prod_{\substack{m>0\\m\equiv g \pmod{\delta}}} (1-x^m) \prod_{\substack{m>0\\m\equiv -g \binom{m}{m}} (1-x^m) (1-x^m) \prod_{\substack{m>0\\m\equiv -g \binom{m}{m}} (1-x^m) (1-$$

where $x = e^{2\pi i \tau}$, $\tau \in H$, $P_2(t) = \{t\}^2 - \{t\} + \frac{1}{6}$ is the second Bernoulli function, and $\{t\} = t - [t]$ is the fractional part of t.

Vestal calculated the logarithmic derivative of $\eta_{\delta,g}(\tau)$:

$$\frac{\eta_{\delta,g}'(\tau)}{\eta_{\delta,g}(\tau)} = \pi i \delta P_2(g/\delta) - 2\pi i \sum_{N=1}^{\infty} \sigma^{(\delta,g)}(N) q^N.$$

For simplicity, let $H_2^{(\delta,g)}$ denote the normalization of the above series.

$$H_2^{(\delta,g)} = 1 - \frac{2}{\delta P_2(g/\delta)} \sum_{N=1}^{\infty} \sigma^{(\delta,g)}(N) q^N.$$

Then $H_2^{(\delta,g)(\tau)} \in M_2(\Gamma_0(\delta))$. Note that $M_2(\Gamma_0(4))$ is two dimensional, so the basis of $\Gamma_0(4)$ [24] consists of

$$H_2^{(4,1)} = 1 + 24 \sum_{N=1}^{\infty} \sigma^{(4,1)}(N) q^N$$

and

$$H_2^{(4,2)} = 1 + 6 \sum_{N=1}^{\infty} \sigma^{(4,2)}(N) q^N.$$

Vestal proceeds to find that

$$\theta^4(\tau) = \frac{1}{3}H_2^{(4,1)}(\tau) + \frac{2}{3}H_2^{(4,2)}(\tau),$$

where

$$\theta(\tau) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{2\pi i n^2 \tau}.$$

Notice that $\theta(\tau) \in M_{1/2}(\Gamma_0(4), \nu_{\theta})$ and that $\nu_{\theta}^4 \equiv 1$. We relate now the above basis to our Eisenstein series of weight 1. With the character defined above, we have

$$G_{1,\chi} = -\frac{1}{2} - 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \sum_{d|n} \chi(d)q^n.$$

As a result, we get

$$G_{1,\chi} = -\frac{1}{2} - 2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \delta_{4,2}(n)q^n,$$

where

$$\delta_{4,2} = \sum_{d|n} \chi(d).$$

Notice that $\delta_{4,2}$ is the difference between the number of divisors of *n* congruent to 1 mod 4 and the number of divisors of *n* congruent to -1 modulo 4. By a classical result that goes back to Jacobi

$$\theta^2(z) = 1 + 4 \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \delta_{4,2} z^n.$$

Hence

$$\theta^2(\tau) = -2G_{1,\chi}(\tau).$$

Therefore

$$4G_{1,\chi}^2(\tau) = \frac{1}{3}H_2^{(4,1)}(\tau) + \frac{2}{3}H_2^{(4,2)}(\tau)$$

As a result, we get

$$4\left(-\frac{1}{2}-2\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\delta_{4,2}(n)q^n\right)^2 = \frac{1}{3}H_2^{(4,1)}(\tau) + \frac{2}{3}H_2^{(4,2)}(\tau).$$

This leads to the following identity

$$8\delta_{4,2}(n) + 16\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \delta_{4,2}(j)\delta_{4,2}(n-j) = 8\sigma^{(4,1)}(n) + 4\sigma^{(4,2)}(n).$$

Consequently,

$$2\delta_{4,2}(n) + 4\sum_{j=1}^{n-1} \delta_{4,2}(j)\delta_{4,2}(n-j) = 2\sigma^{(4,1)}(n) + \sigma^{(4,2)}(n).$$

This is a new proof of another identity due to Farkas [6].

REFERENCES

- Apostol, T. Modular Functions and Dirichlet Series in Number Theory, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1989.
- [2] Beslin, S. and Ligh, S. Greatest common divisor matrices. J. of Linear Algebra and its Applications 118 (1989), 69-76.
- [3] Borevich, A. I.; Shafarevich, I. R., Number Theory. Pure and Applied Mathematics, Vol. 20, Academic Press, New York-London, 1966.
- [4] Diamond F. and Shurmann J. A First Course in Modular Forms. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York 2005.
- [5] Farkas H. On an arithmetical function. The Ramanujan J., 8 (2004), 309-315.
- [6] Farkas H. On an arithmetical function II, preprint.
- [7] Hecke E. Mathematische Werke. Hrsg. im Auftrage der Akademie der Wissenschaften zu Göttingen, Göttingen, Vandenhoeck and

Ruprecht, 1959.

- [8] Knopp, M. and Mason G. Generalized modular forms. J. Number Theory 99 (2003), 1-18.
- [9] Kohnen, W. and Mason G., On generalized modular forms and their applications, preprint.
- [10] Lang, Serge, Algebraic Number Theory. Second edition. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 110. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1994.
- [11] Lang, Serge, Introduction to Modular Forms. Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, No. 222. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1976.
- [12] Lehner, J. A Short Course in Automorphic Functions, Holt, Rinehart and Winston, New York, 1966.
- [13] Martin Y., Multiplicative η-quotients. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 348, no. 12 (1996), 4825-4856.
- [14] Miyake T., Modular Forms, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1989.
- [15] Newman, M. Construction and application of a class of modular

functions, J. London Math. Soc. (3)7 (1957), 334-350.

- [16] Newman, M. Construction and application of a class of modular functions (II), J. London Math. Soc. (3) 9 (1959), 373-387.
- [17] Ono, K. The Web of Modularity: Arithmetic of the Coefficients of Modular Forms and q-Series, CBMS Regional Conference Series in Mathematics, V.102, American Mathematical Society, Providence, 2004.
- [18] Prasolov, V. Problems and Theorems in Linear Algebra, Translations of Mathematical Monographs, V.134, American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1994.
- [19] Rademacher, H. On the transformation of $\log \eta(\tau)$. J. Indian Math Soc. 19 (1955), 25-30.
- [20] Robins, S. Generalized Dedekind η-products, in The Rademacher Legacy to Mathematics, Contemp. Math., V. 166, pp.119-128, American Mathematical Society, Providence 1994.
- [21] Schoeneberg B., Elliptic Modular Functions, Die Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften in Einzeldarstellungen, Band 203, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York, 1974.
- [22] Shimura G., Introduction to the Arithmetic Theory of Automorphic Forms, Iwanami Shoten Publishers and Princeton University

Press, 1971.

- [23] Siegel C., A simple proof of $\eta(-\frac{1}{\tau}) = \eta(\tau)\sqrt{\frac{\tau}{i}}$, Mathematika 1(1954), 4.
- [24] Vestal D., Generalized Dedekind eta functions with applications to additive number theory, Ph.D. Thesis, University of Colorado, 1998.
- [25] Whittaker E.T. and Watson G.N., A Course in Modern Analysis, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002.